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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

__________________

———————

 

FORM 10-Q
__________________———————

 

(Mark One)

☒
(Mark One)

☒     QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

 

For the quarterly period ended June September 30, 2023

 

OR

 

☐ ☐     TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 or 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934.

 

For the transition period from ________ to ________.

 

Commission file number 001-32277

 __________________

———————

cxdo_10qimg92.jpg

    

Crexendo, Inc.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

 __________________

———————

 

Nevada   87-0591719

(State or other jurisdiction of   (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

incorporation or organization)    

     

1615 South 52nd Street, Tempe, AZ   85281

(Address of Principal Executive Offices)   (Zip Code)

 

(602) 714-8500

 (Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

 

 (Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report)

 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the

preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports) and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes ☒ No ☐

 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be

submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was

required to submit and post such files). Yes ☒ No ☐
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging

growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer”, “smaller reporting company” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange

Act. (check one).

 

Large accelerated filer ☐   Accelerated filer ☐

Non-accelerated filer ☐ (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company ☒

      Emerging growth company ☐

 

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised

financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐  

 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes ☐ No ☒.

 

The number of shares outstanding of the registrant’s common stock as of July 31, 2023October 31, 2023 was 25,975,804.26,034,604.
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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements.

 

CREXENDO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
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(Unaudited, in thousands, except par value and share data)

  

 
September 30,

2023
 

December 31,

 2022
 

  June 30, 2023   December 31, 2022          

Assets                    

Current assets:                    

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 4,200   $ 5,475     $ 7,737   $ 5,475  

Trade receivables, net of allowance of $144 and $131, respectively   3,549   3,297  

Trade receivables, net of allowance of $110 and $131, respectively   3,873   3,297  

Inventories   693   679     472   679  

Equipment financing receivables, net of allowance of $47 and $0, respectively   735   635  

Equipment financing receivables, net of allowance of $52 and $0, respectively   812   635  

Contract costs   1,039   841     1,265   841  

Property and equipment, held for sale   2,333   -  

Prepaid expenses   1,013   431     991   431  

Other current assets     483       674       468       674  

Total current assets   14,045   12,032     15,618   12,032  

                   

Contract assets, net of allowance of $23 and $0, respectively   267   318  

Long-term equipment financing receivables, net of allowance of $98 and $0,
respectively

 
1,538

 
1,255

 

Contract assets, net of allowance of $34 and $0, respectively   299   318  

Long-term equipment financing receivables, net of allowance of $109 and $0, respectively   1,670   1,255  

Property and equipment, net   851   3,315     756   3,315  

Operating lease right-of-use assets   899   1,081     1,170   1,081  

Intangible assets, net   25,140   26,725     24,348   26,725  

Goodwill   9,454   9,454     9,454   9,454  

Contract costs, net of current portion   1,706   1,304     1,874   1,304  

Other long-term assets     176       150       146       150  

Total Assets   $ 54,076     $ 55,634     $ 55,335     $ 55,634  

                   

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity                    

Current liabilities:                    

Accounts payable   $ 715   $ 1,206     $ 874   $ 1,206  

Accrued expenses   4,750   4,890     5,053   4,890  

Finance leases   75   95     75   95  

Notes payable   525   420     452   420  

Operating lease liabilities   349   363     604   363  

Income tax payable   43   79     67   79  

Contract liabilities     3,180       3,338       2,971       3,338  

Total current liabilities   9,637   10,391     10,096   10,391  

                   

Contract liabilities, net of current portion   225   247     205   247  

Finance leases, net of current portion   61   98     42   98  

Notes payable, net of current portion   2,507   2,605     708   2,605  

Line of credit   -   82     -   82  

Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion     582       752       597       752  

Total liabilities   13,012   14,175     11,648   14,175  

                   

Stockholders' equity:                    
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Preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share - authorized 5,000,000 shares; none issued             —   —  

Common stock, par value $0.001 per share - authorized 50,000,000 shares, 25,972,804

shares issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2023 and 25,670,773 shares issued and

outstanding as of December 31, 2022

 

26

 

26

 

Common stock, par value $0.001 per share - authorized 50,000,000 shares, 26,030,104

shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2023 and 25,670,773 shares issued

and outstanding as of December 31, 2022

 

26

 

26

 

Additional paid-in capital   131,107   129,192     132,003   129,192  

Accumulated deficit   (90,232 )   (87,946 )   (88,528 )   (87,946 )
Accumulated other comprehensive income     163       187       186       187  

Total stockholders' equity     41,064       41,459       43,687       41,459  

                   

Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity   $ 54,076     $ 55,634     $ 55,335     $ 55,634  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the condensed consolidated financial statements.
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CREXENDO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations

(Unaudited, in thousands, except per share and share data)

 

 
Three Months Ended June 30,

 
Six Months Ended June 30,

   
Three Months Ended September

30,
 

Nine Months Ended September

30,
 

  2023   2022   2023   2022     2023     2022     2023     2022  

Service revenue   $ 7,308   $ 4,556   $ 14,466   $ 8,954     $ 7,517   $ 4,473   $ 21,983   $ 13,427  

Software
solutions revenue

 
3,930

 
3,598

 
8,038

 
6,866

   
4,691

 
3,875

 
12,729

 
10,741

 

Product revenue     1,432       692       2,657       1,184       1,666       760       4,323       1,944  

Total revenue     12,670     8,846     25,161     17,004       13,874       9,108       39,035       26,112  

                                   

Operating
expenses:

                                   

Cost of service

revenue
 

3,095
 

1,438
 

6,139
 

2,874
   

3,173
 

1,375
 

9,312
 

4,249
 

Cost of software

solutions revenue
 

1,293
 

1,131
 

2,478
 

2,792
   

1,327
 

1,141
 

3,805
 

3,933
 

Cost of product

revenue
 

881
 

372
 

1,720
 

689
   

923
 

453
 

2,643
 

1,142
 

Selling and

marketing
 

3,613
 

2,771
 

7,422
 

5,355
   

3,502
 

2,732
 

10,924
 

8,087
 

General and

administrative
 

3,167
 

2,757
 

7,164
 

6,006
   

3,309
 

2,800
 

10,473
 

8,806
 

Research and

development
   

1,138
     

1,229
     

2,329
     

1,533
     

1,276
     

1,151
     

3,605
     

2,684
 

Total operating

expenses
   

13,187
   

9,698
   

27,252
   

19,249
     

13,510
     

9,652
     

40,762
     

28,901
 

                                   

Loss from operations     (517 )     (852 )     (2,091 )     (2,245 )
Income/(loss) from

operations
   

364
     

(544 )
   

(1,727 )
   

(2,789 )
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Other
income/(expense):

                                   

Interest expense   (33 )   (19 )   (75 )   (38 )   (36 )   (19 )   (111 )   (57 )
Gain on sale of

property and

equipment

 

1,459

 

-

 

1,459

 

-

 

Other

income/(expense),

net

   

29
     

(107 )

   

87
     

(116 )

   

(50 )

   

(165 )

   

37
     

(281 )
Total other

income/(expense),

net

   

(4 )

   

(126 )

   

12
     

(154 )

   

1,373
     

(184 )

   

1,385
     

(338 )
                                   

Loss before
income tax

 
(521 )

 
(978 )

 
(2,079 )

 
(2,399 )

Income/(loss) before

income tax
 

1,737
 

(728 )
 

(342 )
 

(3,127 )
                                   

Income tax
benefit/(provision)

   
(24 )

   
82

     
(48 )

   
283

     
(33 )

   
32

     
(81 )

   
315

 

                                   

Net loss   $ (545 )   $ (896 )   $ (2,127 )   $ (2,116 )

Net income/(loss)   $ 1,704    $ (696 )  $ (423 )  $ (2,812 )

                                   

Earnings per
common share:

                                   

Basic   $ (0.02 )   $ (0.04 )   $ (0.08 )   $ (0.09 )   $ 0.07   $ (0.03 )  $ (0.02 )  $ (0.13 )
Diluted   $ (0.02 )   $ (0.04 )   $ (0.08 )   $ (0.09 )   $ 0.06   $ (0.03 )  $ (0.02 )  $ (0.13 )

                                   

Weighted-average

common shares

outstanding:

                                   

Basic   25,972,628   22,456,420   25,853,998   22,347,510     25,995,507   22,620,703   25,901,686   22,439,575  

Diluted   25,972,628   22,456,420   25,853,998   22,347,510     27,682,764   22,620,703   25,901,686   22,439,575  

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the condensed consolidated financial statements.
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CREXENDO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

(Unaudited, in thousands)

  

 
Three Months Ended June 30,

 
Six Months Ended June 30,

   
Three Months Ended September

30,
 

Nine Months Ended September 30,
 

  2023   2022   2023   2022     2023     2022     2023     2022  

Net loss   $ (545 )   $ (896 )   $ (2,127 )   $ (2,116 )
Net income/(loss)   $ 1,704   $ (696 )   $ (423 )   $ (2,812 )
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Other
comprehensive
income, net of
tax

                                   

Foreign

currency

translation

gain/(loss)

   

(3 )

   

91

     

(24 )

   

82

     

23

     

164

     

(1 )

   

246

 

Total other
comprehensive
income/(loss)

   

(3 )
   

91
   

(24 )
   

82
     

23
     

164
     

(1 )
   

246
 

Comprehensive
loss

  $ (548 )
  $ (805 )

  $ (2,151 )
  $ (2,034 )

Comprehensive

income/(loss)
 

$ 1,727
   

$ (532 )
 

$ (424 )
 

$ (2,566 )
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the condensed consolidated financial statements.
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CREXENDO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Stockholders' Equity

Six Nine Months Ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022

(Unaudited, in thousands, except share data)

   

                  Accumulated            

            Additional     Other       Total  

Common Stock     Paid-in     Comprehensive    Accumulated  Stockholders' 

    Shares     Amount     Capital     Income     Deficit     Equity  

Balance, January 1, 2023     25,670,773    $ 26    $ 129,192    $ 187    $ (87,946)   $ 41,459 

Cumulative effect of accounting change     -       -     $ -     $ -       (159)     (159)

Share-based compensation     -       -       1,414      -       -       1,414 

Vesting of restricted stock units     266,278      -       -       -       -       -  

Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax     -       -       -       (21)     -       (21)

Issuance of common stock for exercise of stock options     35,553      -       40      -       -       40 

Taxes paid on the net settlement of stock options and RSUs     -       -       (257)     -       -       (257)

Net loss     -       -       -       -       (1,582)     (1,582)
Balance, March 31, 2023     25,972,604    $ 26    $ 130,389    $ 166    $ (89,687)   $ 40,894 

Share-based compensation     -       -       855      -       -       855 

Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax     -       -       -       (3)     -       (3)

Issuance of common stock for exercise of stock options     200      -       -       -       -       -  

Taxes paid on the net settlement of stock options and RSUs     -       -       (7)     -       -       (7)

Dividends declared     -       -       (130)     -       -       (130)

Net loss     -       -               -       (545)     (545)
Balance, June 30, 2023     25,972,804    $ 26    $ 131,107    $ 163    $ (90,232)   $ 41,064 

                    Accumulated          

              Additional     Other          Total  

Common Stock     Paid-in     Comprehensive    Accumulated    Stockholders' 

    Shares     Amount     Capital     Income     Deficit     Equity  

Balance, January 1, 2022     22,054,239    $ 22    $ 118,432    $ 12    $ (52,533)   $ 65,933 
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Share-based compensation     -       -       1,053      -       -       1,053 

Vesting of restricted stock units     103,657      -       -       -       -       -  

Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax     -       -       -       (9)     -       (9)

Issuance of common stock for exercise of stock options     237,581      -       278      -       -       278 

Taxes paid on the net settlement of stock options and RSUs     -       -       (117)     -       -       (117)

Dividends declared     -       -       (111)     -       -       (111)

Net loss     -       -       -       -       (1,220)     (1,220)
Balance, March 31, 2022     22,395,477    $ 22    $ 119,535    $ 3    $ (53,753)   $ 65,807 

Share-based compensation     -       -       858      -       -       858 

Vesting of restricted stock units     8,090      -       -       -       -       -  

Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax     -       -       -       91      -       91 

Issuance of common stock for exercise of stock options     133,868      1      136      -       -       137 

Taxes paid on the net settlement of stock options and RSUs     -       -       (1)     -       -       (1)

Dividends declared     -       -       (112)     -       -       (112)

Net loss     -       -       -       -       (896)     (896)
Balance, June 30, 2022     22,537,435    $ 23    $ 120,416    $ 94    $ (54,649)   $ 65,884 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the condensed consolidated financial statements.

                      Accumulated              

              Additional     Other         Total  

    Common Stock     Paid-in     Comprehensive     Accumulated    Stockholders' 

    Shares     Amount     Capital     Income     Deficit     Equity  

Balance, January 1, 2023     25,670,773    $ 26    $ 129,192    $ 187    $ (87,946)   $ 41,459 

Cumulative effect of accounting change     -       -       -       -       (159)     (159)

Share-based compensation     -       -       1,414      -       -       1,414 

Vesting of restricted stock units     266,278      -       -       -       -       -  

Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax     -       -       -       (21)     -       (21)

Issuance of common stock for exercise of stock options     35,553      -       40      -       -       40 

Taxes paid on the net settlement of stock options and RSUs     -       -       (257)     -       -       (257)

Net loss     -       -       -       -       (1,582)     (1,582)

Balance, March 31, 2023     25,972,604    $ 26    $ 130,389    $ 166    $ (89,687)   $ 40,894 

Share-based compensation     -       -       855      -       -       855 

Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax     -       -       -       (3)     -       (3)

Issuance of common stock for exercise of stock options     200      -       -       -       -       -  

Taxes paid on the net settlement of stock options and RSUs     -       -       (7)     -       -       (7)

Dividends declared     -       -       (130)     -       -       (130)

Net loss     -       -               -       (545)     (545)

Balance, June 30, 2023     25,972,804    $ 26    $ 131,107    $ 163    $ (90,232)   $ 41,064 

Share-based compensation     -       -       843      -       -       843 

Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax     -       -       -       23      -       23 

Issuance of common stock for exercise of stock options     57,300      -       53      -       -       53 

Net income     -       -               -       1,704      1,704 

Balance, September 30, 2023     26,030,104    $ 26    $ 132,003    $ 186    $ (88,528)   $ 43,687 
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(Unaudited, in thousands) thousands, except share data)

 

    Six Months Ended June 30,  

    2023     2022  

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES            

Net loss   $ (2,127)   $ (2,116)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:                

Depreciation and amortization     1,808      1,239 

Allowance for credit losses     22      -  

Share-based compensation     2,269      1,911 

Non-cash operating lease amortization     (2)     (2)
Changes in assets and liabilities:                

Trade receivables     (265)     (1,347)

Contract assets     28      (5)

Equipment financing receivables     (528)     (228)

Inventories     (14)     (27)

Contract costs     (600)     (364)

Prepaid expenses     (582)     (320)

Income tax receivable     -       (344)

Other assets     165      57 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses     (631)     (387)

Income tax payable     (36)     (24)

Contract liabilities     (180)     (657)

Net cash used for operating activities     (673)     (2,614)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES                

Purchase of property and equipment     (92)     (40)

Net cash used for investing activities     (92)     (40)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES                

Borrowing on line of credit, net     (82)     -  

Repayments made on finance leases     (57)     (57)

Proceeds from notes payable     278      -  

Repayments made on notes payable     (271)     (37)

Proceeds from exercise of options     40      415 

Dividend payments     (130)     (223)

Taxes paid on the net settlement of stock options and RSUs     (264)     (118)

Net cash used for financing activities     (486)     (20)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash     (24)     82 

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS     (1,275)     (2,592)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD     5,475      7,468 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD   $ 4,200    $ 4,876 

Cash used during the year for:                

Income taxes, net   $ (82)   $ (96)

Interest expense   $ (75)   $ (38)

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing information:                

Transfer of property and equipment, net to property and equipment, held for sale   $ 2,333    $ -  

                      Accumulated              

                Additional     Other           Total  

    Common Stock     Paid-in     Comprehensive     Accumulated    Stockholders' 

    Shares     Amount     Capital     Income     Deficit     Equity  
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Balance, January 1, 2022     22,054,239    $ 22    $ 118,432    $ 12    $ (52,533)   $ 65,933 

Share-based compensation     -       -       1,053      -       -       1,053 

Vesting of restricted stock units     103,657      -       -       -       -       -  

Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax     -       -       -       (9)     -       (9)

Issuance of common stock for exercise of stock options     237,581      -       278      -       -       278 

Taxes paid on the net settlement of stock options     -       -       (117)     -       -       (117)

Dividends declared     -       -       (111)     -       -       (111)

Net loss     -       -       -       -       (1,220)     (1,220)

Balance, March 31, 2022     22,395,477    $ 22    $ 119,535    $ 3    $ (53,753)   $ 65,807 

Share-based compensation     -       -       858      -       -       858 

Vesting of restricted stock units     8,090      -       -       -       -       -  

Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax     -       -       -       91      -       91 

Issuance of common stock for exercise of stock options     133,868      1      136      -       -       137 

Taxes paid on the net settlement of stock options     -       -       (1)     -       -       (1)

Dividends declared     -       -       (112)     -       -       (112)

Net loss     -       -       -       -       (896)     (896)

Balance, June 30, 2022     22,537,435    $ 23    $ 120,416    $ 94    $ (54,649)   $ 65,884 

Share-based compensation     -       -       851      -       -       851 

Vesting of restricted stock units     6,727      -       -       -       -       -  

Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax     -       -       -       164      -       164 

Issuance of common stock for exercise of stock options     142,749      -       161      -       -       161 

Taxes paid on the net settlement of stock options     -       -       (17)     -       -       (17)

Dividends declared     -       -       (113)     -       -       (113)

Net loss     -       -       -       -       (696)     (696)

Balance, September 30, 2022     22,686,911    $ 23    $ 121,298    $ 258    $ (55,345)   $ 66,234 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the condensed consolidated financial statements.
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CREXENDO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Unaudited, in thousands)

    Nine Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022  

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES            

Net loss   $ (423)   $ (2,812)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities:                

Depreciation and amortization     2,695      1,862 

Share-based compensation     3,112      2,762 

Non-cash operating lease amortization     (3)     (12)

Gain on sale of property and equipment     (1,459)     -  

Allowance for credit losses     44      -  

Changes in assets and liabilities:                

Trade receivables     (584)     (1,851)

Contract assets     2      (4)

Equipment financing receivables     (770)     (425)

Inventories     207      53 
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Contract costs     (994)     (524)

Prepaid expenses     (560)     (638)

Income tax receivable     -       (375)

Other assets     210      65 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses     (169)     (742)

Income tax payable     (12)     (24)

Contract liabilities     (409)     -  

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities     887      (2,665)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES                

Purchase of property and equipment     (92)     (192)

Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment     3,792      -  

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities     3,700      (192)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES                

Repayments made on finance leases     (76)     (86)

Repayments made on notes payable     (2,143)     (55)

Proceeds from notes payable     278      -  

Proceeds from exercise of options     93      576 

Dividend payments     (130)     (336)

Taxes paid on the net settlement of stock options and RSUs     (264)     (135)

Borrowing on a line of credit, net     (82)     -  

Net cash used in financing activities     (2,324)     (36)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash     (1)     246 

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS     2,262      (2,647)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD     5,475      7,468 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD   $ 7,737    $ 4,821 

Cash used during the year for:                

Income taxes, net   $ (91)   $ (96)

Interest expense   $ (111)   $ (57)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the condensed consolidated financial statements.
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CREXENDO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)

  

1. Significant Accounting Policies

 

Description of Business – Crexendo, Inc. is incorporated in the state of Nevada. As used hereafter in the notes to consolidated financial statements, we refer to

Crexendo, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries, as “we,” “us,” or “our Company.” Crexendo, Inc. is an award-winning premier provider of cloud communication platform and

services, video collaboration and managed IT services designed to provide enterprise-class cloud solutions to any size business. Our solutions currently support over three

million end users globally. The Company has two operating segments, which consist of Cloud Telecommunications Services and Software Solutions.

 

Basis of Presentation – The consolidated financial statements include the accounts and operations of Crexendo, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries, which include

Allegiant Networks, LLC, Crexendo Business Solutions, Inc., NetSapiens, LLC, Crexendo Business Solutions of Virginia, Inc., NSHC, Inc., NetSapiens Canada, Inc., NetSapiens

International Limited and Crexendo International, Inc. All intercompany account balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The consolidated financial

statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“US GAAP”) and pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and

Exchange Commission (“SEC”). These consolidated financial statements reflect the results of operations, financial position, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows of our

Company.

 

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified for consistency with the current period presentation. These reclassifications had no effect on the reported results of

operations.
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Foreign Currency Translation - The functional currency of our international subsidiaries is the local currency. We translate assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries,

whose functional currency is their local currency, at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. We translate revenue and expenses at the monthly average exchange

rates. We include accumulated net translation adjustments in stockholders’ equity as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

 

Due to changes in exchange rates between reporting periods and changes in certain account balances, the foreign currency translation adjustment will change from

period to period. During the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company recorded foreign currency translation gains of $3, $23, and $91, $164,

respectively, and during the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company recorded foreign currency gainsgains/(losses) of $24($1) and

$82, $246, respectively, on our statements of comprehensive income income/(loss).

 

Cash and Cash Equivalents – We consider all highly liquid, short-term investments with maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash

equivalents. As of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, we had cash and cash equivalents in financial institutions in excess of federally insured limits in the

amount of $3,805$7,358 and $4,750, respectively.

 

Trade Receivables and Allowance for Credit Losses – Trade receivables from our cloud telecommunications services and software solutions segments are recorded

at invoiced amounts. Trade receivables are generally due within 30 days after the invoice date. We provide an allowance for credit losses based on historical loss experience, the

age of the receivables, specific troubled accounts and other currently available information.

 

The allowance for credit losses is determined based on an assessment of historical collection experience using the aging schedule method as well as consideration of

current and future economic conditions. Trade receivables are written off against the allowance after all collection efforts have been exhausted and management deems the

account to be uncollectible. We believe that our trade receivable credit risk is low because of the geographic and industry diversification of our clients and small account

balances for most of our clients. We continually evaluate the adequacy of the allowance for credit losses and adjust as necessary.

 

Equipment Financing Receivables and Allowance for Credit Losses – Equipment financing receivables are comprised of sales-type leases. Sales-type leases are from

financing options provided to clients for cloud telecommunications equipment (IP or cloud telephone desktop devices) and are generally due in installments over periods

ranging from three to five years.

 

We provide an allowance for credit losses based on historical loss experience, adverse situations that may affect a client’sclient's ability to pay, current economic

conditions and outlook based on reasonable and supportable forecasts. We continually evaluate the adequacy of the allowance for credit losses and adjust as

necessary.Equipment necessary. Equipment financing receivables are written off against the allowance after all collection efforts have been exhausted and management deems

the account to be uncollectible. We believe that our equipment financing receivable credit risk is low because of the geographic and industry diversification of our clients and

small account balances for most of our clients.

 

 
89

Table of Contents
 

Contract Assets and Allowance for Credit Losses– Contract assets primarily relate to the Company’s rights to consideration for work completed but not billed as of

the reporting date. The Company recognizes a contract asset when the Company transfers products or services to a customer and the right to consideration is conditional on

something other than the passage of time. The contract assets are transferred to receivables when the rights become unconditional.

 

The allowance for credit losses is determined based on an assessment of historical collection experience using the loss-rate method as well as consideration of current

and future economic conditions and changes in our loss-rate trends. We utilize a five-year lookback period to establish our estimate of expected credit losses, as our contractual

terms range from three to five years. Contract assets are written off against the allowance after all collection efforts have been exhausted and management deems the account

to be uncollectible. We believe that our contract assets credit risk is low because of the geographic and industry diversification of our clients and small account balances for most

of our clients. We continually evaluate the adequacy of the allowance for credit losses and adjust as necessary.

 

Contract Costs – Contract costs primarily relate to incremental commission costs paid to sales representatives and sales leadership as a result of obtaining

telecommunications contracts which are recoverable. The Company capitalized contract costs in the amount of $2,745$3,139 and $2,145 at June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and

December 31, 2022, respectively. Capitalized commission costs are amortized based on the transfer of goods or services to which the assets relate which typically range from

thirty-six to sixty months, and are included in selling and marketing expenses. During the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company

amortized $410$402 and $286, $391, respectively, and during the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company amortized $798$1,194 and

$548$939 respectively, and there was no impairment loss in relation to the costs capitalized.
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Inventory – Finished goods telecommunications equipment inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value (first-in, first-out method). In accordance with

applicable accounting guidance, we regularly evaluate whether inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. If net realizable value is less than cost, the write-

down is recognized as a loss in earnings in the period in which the excess occurs.

 

Property and Equipment – Depreciation and amortization expense is computed using the straight-line method in amounts sufficient to allocate the cost of

depreciable assets over their estimated useful lives ranging from two to thirty-nine years. The cost of leasehold improvements is amortized using the straight-line method over

the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the term of the related lease. Land is not depreciable. Depreciable lives by asset group are as follows:

 

Building 39 years

Land Not depreciated

Computer and office equipment 2 to 5 years

Computer software 3 years

Internal-use software 3 years

Furniture and fixtures 4 years

Leasehold improvements 2 to 5 years

Vehicles  5 years 

 

Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. The cost and accumulated depreciation of property and equipment sold or otherwise retired are removed from the

accounts and any related gain or loss on disposition is reflected in the statement of operations.

 

Property and equipment, held for sale – Property and equipment are classified as held for sale when the Company commits to and commences a plan of sale that is

reasonably expected to be completed within one year and satisfies certain other held for sale criteria. Property and equipment held for sale are recorded at the lesser of carrying

value or fair value, less estimated cost to sell.  Depreciation ceases once an asset is classified as held for sale. The Company performs an impairment review of assets held for sale

each reporting period. An impairment loss is recorded for an asset or asset group held for sale when the carrying value of the asset or asset group exceeds its fair value, less

estimated cost to sell.

 

Asset Acquisitions – Periodically we acquire customer relationships that we account for as an asset acquisition and record a corresponding intangible asset that is

amortized over its estimated useful life. Any excess of the fair value of the purchase price over the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities is allocated on a relative fair

value basis. No goodwill is recorded in an asset acquisition. If the fair value of the assets acquired exceeds the initial consideration paid as of the date of acquisition but includes

a contingent consideration arrangement and ASC 450 and ASC 815 do not apply to contingent consideration, we analogize to the guidance in ASC 323 on recognizing contingent

consideration in the acquisition of an equity method investment. The Company recognizes a liability equal to the lesser of, the maximum amount of contingent consideration or

the excess of the fair value of the net assets acquired over the initial cost measurement. In accordance with the requirements of ASC 323 for equity method investments, the

Company recognizes any excess of the contingent consideration issued or issuable, over the amount that was initially recognized as a liability, as an additional cost of the asset

acquisition. If the amount initially recognized as a liability exceeds the contingent consideration issued or issuable, the entity recognizes that amount as a reduction of the cost

of the asset acquisition.
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Business Acquisitions - We account for business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting. The acquisition method of accounting requires that the

purchase price, including the fair value of contingent consideration, of the acquisition be allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed using the fair values determined

by management as of the acquisition date. Goodwill as of the acquisition date is measured as the excess of consideration transferred over the net of the acquisition date fair

values of assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. While the Company uses its best estimates and assumptions as part of the purchase price allocation process to accurately

value assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date, the Company’s estimates are inherently uncertain and subject to refinement. As a result, during the

measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, the Company records adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with the

corresponding offset to goodwill to the extent the Company identifies adjustments to the preliminary purchase price allocation. Upon the conclusion of the measurement

period or final determination of the values of assets acquired or liabilities assumed, whichever comes first, any subsequent adjustments are recorded to the consolidated

statements of operations. We include the results of all acquisitions in our consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition. Acquisition related transaction costs,

such as banking, legal, accounting and other costs incurred in connection with an acquisition, are expensed as incurred in general and administrative expenses.

 

Goodwill – We have recorded goodwill related to various business acquisitions. Goodwill is recorded when the purchase price paid for an acquisition exceeds the

estimated fair value of the net identified tangible and intangible assets acquired. In each of our acquisitions, the objective of the acquisition was to expand our product offerings

and customer base and to achieve synergies related to cross selling opportunities, all of which contributed to the recognition of goodwill.  We test goodwill for impairment on an
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annual basis or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that goodwill might be impaired. Items that could reasonably be expected to negatively affect key

assumptions used in estimating fair value include but are not limited to: sustained decline in our stock price due to a decline in our financial performance due to the loss of key

customers, loss of key personnel, emergence of new technologies or new competitors; and decline in overall market or economic conditions leading to a decline in our stock

price.

 

The process of estimating the fair value of goodwill is subjective and requires the Company to make estimates that may significantly impact the outcome of the analysis.

A qualitative assessment considers events and circumstances such as macroeconomic conditions, industry and market conditions, cost factors and overall financial

performance, as well as company specifications. If after performing this assessment, the Company concludes it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is

less than its carrying amount, then the Company must perform the quantitative test. Under the quantitative test, a goodwill impairment is identified by comparing the fair value

of the reporting unit to the carrying amount, including goodwill. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit, goodwill is considered

impaired and an impairment charge is recognized in an amount equal to the excess, not to exceed the carrying amount of goodwill.

 

Impairment assessment inherently involves management judgments regarding a number of assumptions. The reporting unit fair value also depends on the future

strength of the U.S. economy. New and developing competition as well as technological change could also adversely affect future fair value estimates. Due to the many variables

inherent in the estimation of a reporting unit’s fair value and the relative size of the Company’s recorded goodwill, differences in assumptions could have a material effect on the

estimated fair values. For further information, see Note 10 (Intangible Assets and Goodwill). 

 

Intangible Assets – Our intangible assets consist of customer relationships, developed technologies, trademarks and trade name. The intangible assets are amortized

following the patterns in which the economic benefits are consumed or straight-line over the estimated useful life. We periodically review the estimated useful lives of our

intangible assets and review these assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable.

The determination of impairment is based on estimates of future undiscounted cash flows. If an intangible asset is considered to be impaired, the amount of the impairment will

be equal to the excess of the carrying value over the fair value of the asset.

 

Contract Liabilities – Our contract liabilities consist primarily of advance consideration received from customers for telecommunications contracts. The product and

monthly service revenue is recognized on completion of the implementation and the remaining activation fees are reclassified as deferred revenue.contract liabilities.

 

Use of Estimates – In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management makes assumptions, estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts

of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of net sales and

expenses during the reported periods. Specific estimates and judgments include valuation of goodwill and intangible assets in connection with business acquisitions and asset

acquisitions, the provision for credit losses related to trade receivables, provision for contract assets, provision for equipment financing receivables, uncertainties related to

certain income tax benefits, valuation of deferred income tax assets, valuations of share-based payments, annual incentive bonuses accruals, recoverability of long-lived assets

and intangible assets, and product warranty liabilities. Management’s estimates are based on historical experience and on our expectations that are believed to be

reasonable. The combination of these factors forms the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other

sources. Actual results may differ from our current estimates and those differences may be material.
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Contingencies – The Company accrues for claims and contingencies when losses become probable and reasonably estimable. As of the end of each applicable reporting

period, the Company reviews each of its matters and, where it is probable that a liability has been or will be incurred, it accrues for all probable and reasonably estimable losses.

Where the Company can reasonably estimate a range of losses it may incur regarding such a matter, it records an accrual for the amount within the range that constitutes its

best estimate. If the Company can reasonably estimate a range but no amount within the range appears to be a better estimate than any other, it uses the amount that is the

low end of such range.

 

Service, Software Solutions and Product Revenue Recognition – Revenue is recognized upon transfer of control of promised services, software solutions or

products to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to receive in exchange for those products or services and excludes any amounts collected on

behalf of third parties. We enter into contracts that can include various combinations of products and services, which are generally capable of being distinct and accounted for as

separate performance obligations. We recognize revenue for delivered elements only when we determine there are no uncertainties regarding customer acceptance. Changes in

the allocation of the sales price between delivered and undelivered elements can impact the timing of revenue recognized but does not change the total revenue recognized on

any agreement. Revenue is recognized net of any taxes collected from customers, which are subsequently remitted to governmental authorities. For more detailed information

about revenue, see Note 3.3 (Revenue).

 

Cost of Service Revenue – Cost of service revenue includes cloud telecommunications services. Cloud telecommunications cost of service revenue primarily consists of

fees we pay to third-party telecommunications and broadband Internet providers, costs of other third-party services we resell, personnel and travel expenses related to system
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implementation, and customer service.

 

Cost of Software Solutions Revenue – Cost of software solutions revenue consists primarily of royalties and other fees paid to third parties whose technology or

products are sold as part of the Company’s products, direct costs to manufacture and distribute products, direct costs to provide product support and professional support

services, direct costs associated with delivery of the Company’s software offerings, and amortization expense related to developed technology intangible assets.

 

Cost of Product Revenue – Cost of product revenue primarily consists of the costs associated with the purchase of desktop devices and other third-party equipment

we purchase for resale.

 

Product Warranty – We provide for the estimated cost of product warranties at the time we recognize revenue. We evaluate our warranty obligations on a product

group basis. Our standard product warranty terms generally include post-sales support and repairs or replacement of a product at no additional charge for a specified period of

time. We base our estimated warranty obligation upon warranty terms, ongoing product failure rates, and current period product shipments. If actual product failure rates,

repair rates or any other post-sales support costs were to differ from our estimates, we would be required to make revisions to the estimated warranty liability. Warranty terms

generally last for the duration that the customer has service.

 

Contingent Consideration – Contingent consideration represents deferred business acquisition and asset acquisition consideration to be paid out at some point in

the future, typically over a one-year period or less from the acquisition date. Contingent consideration is recorded at the  asset acquisition date fair value. Contingent

consideration recorded in connection with a business acquisition is reported at fair value each reporting period until the contingency is resolved. Any changes in fair value are

recognized in earnings. Contingent consideration recorded in connection with an asset acquisition is not derecognized until the related contingency is resolved and the

consideration is paid or becomes payable. If the amount initially recorded as contingent consideration exceeds the amount paid or payable, the Company recognizes that

excess amount as a reduction in the cost of the related intangible assets.

 

                               Research and Development – Research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel and related expenses for the Company’s research and

development staff, including salaries, benefits, bonuses and stock-based compensation and the cost of certain third-party contractors. Research and development costs are

expensed as incurred. Costs related to internally developed software are expensed as research and development expense until technological feasibility has been achieved, after

which the costs are capitalized.
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Fair Value Measurements – The fair value of our financial assets and liabilities was determined based on three levels of inputs, of which the first two are considered

observable and the last unobservable, that may be used to measure fair value which are the following: 

 

Level 1 — Unadjusted quoted prices that are available in active markets for the identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.

 

11
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Level 2 — Other observable inputs available at the measurement date, other than quoted prices included in Level 1, either directly or indirectly, including:

  · Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets;

  · Quoted prices for identical or similar assets in non-active markets;

  · Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability; and

  · Inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by other observable market data.

 

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that cannot be corroborated by observable market data and reflect the use of significant management judgment.  These values are

generally determined using pricing models for which the assumptions utilize management’s estimates of market participant assumptions. 

 

Lease Obligations – We determine if an agreement is a lease at inception. We evaluate the lease terms to determine whether the lease will be accounted for as an

operating or finance lease. Operating leases are included in operating lease right-of-use (“ROU”) assets, operating lease liabilities, current portion, and operating lease liabilities,

net of current portion in our consolidated balance sheets.

 

ROU assets represent our right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent our obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease.

Operating lease ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. As most of our leases do

not provide an implicit rate, we use our incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at commencement date in determining the present value of lease
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payments. We use the implicit rate when readily determinable. The operating lease ROU asset also includes any lease payments made and excludes lease incentives. Our lease

terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise that option. Lease expense for lease payments is recognized on a

straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 

A lease that transfers substantially all of the benefits and risks incidental to ownership of property are accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance lease,

an asset and finance lease obligation is recorded at an amount equal to the lesser of the present value of the minimum lease payments and the property’s fair market value.

Finance lease obligations are classified as either current or long-term based on the due dates of future minimum lease payments, net of interest.

 

Notes Payable – We record notes payable net of any discounts or premiums. Discounts and premiums are amortized as interest expense or income over the life of the

note in such a way as to result in a constant rate of interest when applied to the amount outstanding at the beginning of any given period.

 

Income Taxes – We recognize a liability or asset for the deferred tax consequences of all temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their

reported amounts in the consolidated financial statements that will result in taxable or deductible amounts in future years when the reported amounts of the assets and

liabilities are recovered or settled. Accruals for uncertain tax positions are provided for in accordance with accounting guidance. Accordingly, we may recognize the tax benefits

from an uncertain tax position only if it is more-likely-than-not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of

the position. The tax benefits recognized in the financial statements from such a position should be measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50%

likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. Accounting guidance is also provided on de-recognition of income tax assets and liabilities, classification of current and

deferred income tax assets and liabilities, accounting for interest and penalties associated with tax positions, and income tax disclosures. Judgment is required in assessing the

future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the financial statements or tax returns. Variations in the actual outcome of these future tax consequences

could materially impact our financial position, results of operations, and cash flows.  In assessing the need for a valuation allowance, we evaluate all significant available positive

and negative evidence, including historical operating results, estimates of future taxable income and the existence of prudent and feasible tax planning strategies. At December

31, 2022, we determined that it is more likely-than-not that we will not be able to realize our deferred income tax assets in the future. A valuation allowance of $3,179 and $3,179

was recorded against our gross deferred tax asset balance as of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively. .

 

Interest and penalties associated with income taxes are classified as income tax expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

 

Stock-Based Compensation – For equity-classified awards, compensation expense is recognized over the requisite service period based on the computed fair value on

the grant date of the award. Equity classified awards include the issuance of stock options and restricted stock units (“RSUs”).

 

Operating Segments – Accounting guidance establishes standards for the way public business enterprises are to report information about operating segments in

annual financial statements and requires enterprises to report selected information about operating segments in financial reports issued to stockholders. The Company has

reorganized into two operating segments, which consist of cloud telecommunications services and software solutions. The software solutions segment includes the results of

operation of NetSapiens, LLC, NSHC, Inc., NetSapiens Canada, Inc., and NetSapiens International Limited. The cloud telecommunications segment includes the results of

operations of Allegiant Networks, LLC, Crexendo Business Solutions, Inc., Crexendo International, Inc., and Crexendo Business Solutions of Virginia, Inc. We generate 96% 95% of

our total revenue from customers within the United States and 4% 5% of our total revenues from customers in other parts of the world.
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Significant Customers – No customer accounted for 10% or more of our total revenue for the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and

2022. No customer accounted for 10% or more of our total trade accounts receivable as of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022.

 

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements – In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, which simplifies the accounting for convertible instruments. ASU

2020-06 eliminates certain models that require separate accounting for embedded conversion features, in certain cases. Additionally, among other changes, the guidance

eliminates certain of the conditions for equity classification for contracts in an entity’s own equity. ASU 2020-06 also requires entities to use the if-converted method for all

convertible instruments in the diluted earnings per share calculation and include the effect of share settlement for instruments that may be settled in cash or shares, except for

certain liability-classified share-based payment awards. ASU 2020-06 is effective for our fiscal year beginning after December 15, 2021, including interim periods within this fiscal

year. This guidance can be applied using either a modified or full retrospective approach. The Company adopted ASU 2020-06 effective January 1, 2022. The adoption of this

guidance did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

 

In September 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses, with additional updates and amendments being issued in 2018, 2019, 2020 and

2022 (collectively, “ASC 326”). The new standard updates the impairment model for financial assets measured at amortized cost, known as the Current Expected Credit Loss

(“CECL”) model. For trade and other receivables, held-to-maturity debt securities, loans, and other instruments, entities are required to use a new forward-looking

“expected  loss” "expected loss" model that generally results in the earlier recognition of an allowance for credit losses. The Company adopted ASC 326 on a modified
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retrospective basis as of January 1, 2023, through a cumulative-effect adjustment to the Company’sCompany's beginning accumulated deficit balance; the impact of the

adoption was not material to the Company’sCompany's consolidated financial statements. The adoption of this standard and applicable amendments primarily impacted the

estimation of our allowance for credit losses for accounts receivable and established an allowance for credit losses for our equipment finance receivables and contract assets.

See Note 2 for disclosures related to changes in accounting policies. See Note 6 - Trade Receivables and Allowance for Credit Losses, Note 7 – Equipment Financing Receivables

and Allowance for Credit Losses, and Note 3 – Contract Assets and Allowance for Credit Losses for additional discussion regarding the impacts from the adoption of this standard.

 

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements – None
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2. Changes in Accounting Principles

 

On January 1, 2023, the Company adopted ASC 326 Financial Instruments — Credit Losses (“ASC 326”). The new standard updates the impairment model for financial

assets measured at amortized cost, known as the Current Expected Credit Loss (“CECL”) model. For trade and other receivables, held-to-maturity debt securities, loans, contract

assets, and other instruments, entities are required to use a new forward-looking “expected loss” "expected loss" model that generally results in the earlier recognition of an

allowance for credit losses. The Company applied the modified retrospective method of adoption for ASC 326. Under this transition method, the Company applied the transition

provisions starting at the date of adoption. The cumulative effect of the adoption of ASC 326 on our January 1, 2023 Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet was as follows:

  

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet
 

December 31,

2022
   

New ASC 326
   

January 1, 2023
 

    As Previously     Standard     As  

(In thousands)   Reported     Adjustment     Adjusted  

Assets                  

Trade receivables, net of allowance   $ 3,297    $ (18)   $ 3,279 

Contract assets, net of allowance     318      (29)     289 

Equipment financing receivables, net of allowance     635      (37)     598 

Total current assets     12,032      (84)     11,948 

Long-term equipment financing receivables, net of allowance     1,255      (75)     1,180 

Total Assets   $ 55,634    $ (159)   $ 55,475 

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity                        

Accumulated deficit     (87,946)     (159)     (88,105)

Total stockholders' equity     41,459      (159)     41,300 

Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity   $ 55,634    $ (159)   $ 55,475 
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3. Revenue

 

Revenue is measured based on a consideration specified in a contract with a customer, and excludes any sales incentives and amounts collected on behalf of third

parties. The Company recognizes revenue when it satisfies a performance obligation by transferring control over a product, service, or software solution to a customer. Taxes

assessed by a governmental authority that are both imposed on and concurrent with a specific revenue-producing transaction, that are collected by the Company from a

customer, are excluded from revenue. The following is a description of principal activities – separated by reportable segments – from which the Company generates its revenue.

For more detailed information about reportable segments, see Note 18.18 (Segment Reporting).

 

Cloud Telecommunications Services Segment

 

Products and services may be sold separately or in bundled packages. The typical length of a contract for service is thirty-six to sixty months. Customers are billed for

these services on a monthly basis. For bundled packages, the Company accounts for individual products and services separately if they are distinct – i.e. if a product or service is

separately identifiable from other items in the bundled package and if a customer can benefit from it on its own or with other resources that are readily available to the

customer. The consideration (including any discounts) is allocated between separate products and services in a bundle based on their relative stand-alone selling prices. The

stand-alone selling prices are determined based on the prices at which the Company separately sells the desktop devices and telecommunication services. For items that are not
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sold separately (e.g. additional features) the Company estimates stand-alone selling prices using the adjusted market assessment approach. When we provide a free trial period,

we do not begin to recognize recurring revenue until the trial period has ended and the customer has been billed for the services.

 

Desktop Devices Telecommunications Equipment –  Revenue generated from the sale of telecommunications equipment (desktop devices) is recognized when the

customer takes possession of the devices and the cloud telecommunications services begin. The Company typically bills and collects the fees for the equipment upon entering

into a contract with a customer. Cash receipts are recorded as a contract liability until implementation is complete and the services begin.

 

Equipment Financing Revenue – Fees generated from renting our cloud telecommunication equipment (IP or cloud telephone desktop devices) through leasing contracts

are recognized as revenue based on whether the lease qualifies as an operating lease or sales-type lease. The two primary accounting provisions which we use to classify

transactions as sales-type or operating leases are: 1) lease term to determine if it is equal to or greater than 75% of the economic life of the equipment and 2) the present value

of the minimum lease payments to determine if they are equal to or greater than 90% of the fair market value of the equipment at the inception of the lease. The economic life

of most of our products is estimated to be three years, since this represents the most frequent contractual lease term for our products, and there is no residual value for used

equipment. Residual values, if any, are established at the lease inception using estimates of fair value at the end of the lease term. The vast majority of our leases that qualify as

sales-type leases are non-cancelable and include cancellation penalties approximately equal to the full value of the lease receivables. Leases that do not meet the criteria for

sales-type lease accounting are accounted for as operating leases. Revenue from sales-type leases is recognized upon installation and the interest portion is deferred and

recognized as earned. Revenue from operating leases in recognized ratably over the applicable service period.

 

Cloud Telecommunications Services – Cloud telecommunication services include voice, data, collaboration software, broadband Internet access, managed IT services,

cloud server rental and support, managed security, cabling, software license sales, interest generated from equipment financing revenue, and support for premise based PBX

phone systems. The Company recognizes revenue as services are provided in service revenue. Fees generated from reselling broadband Internet access are recognized as

revenue net of the costs charged by the third-party service providers. Cloud telecommunications services are billed and paid on a monthly basis. Our telecommunications

services contracts typically have a term of thirty-six to sixty months.
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Fees, Commissions, and Other, Recognized over Time – Includes contracted and non-contracted items such as:

 

 
· Contracted activation and flash fees – The Company generally allocates a portion of the activation fees to the desktop devices, which is recognized at the

time of the installation or customer acceptance, and a portion to the service, which is recognized over the contract term using the straight-line method.

 

· Non-contracted carrier cost recovery fee – This fee recovers the various costs and expenses that the Company incurs in connection with complying with

legal, regulatory, and other requirements, including without limitation federal, state, and local reporting and filing requirements. This fee is assessed as a set

percentage of our monthly billing and is recognized monthly.

  · Non-contracted administrative fees – Administrative fees are recognized as revenue on a monthly basis.
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One-Time Fees, Commissions, and Other – Includes contracted and non-contracted items such as:

 

 

· Contracted professional service revenue – Professional service revenue includes professional installation services, custom integration, and other

professional services. The Company typically bills and collects professional service revenue upon entering into a contract with a customer. Professional

service revenue is recognized as revenue when the performance obligations are completed.

 
· Non-contracted cancellation fees – These cancellation fees relate to remaining contractual term buyout payments in connection with early cancellation and

are billed and recognized as revenue upon receipt.

 
· Other non-contracted fees – These fees include disconnect fees, shipping fees, restocking fees, and porting fees. Other non-contracted fees are recognized

as revenue upon receipt of payment.

 

Software Solutions Segment

 

The Software Solutions segment derives revenues from three primary sources: software licenses, software maintenance support and professional services. Software and

services may be sold separately or in bundled packages. Generally, contracts with customers contain multiple performance obligations, consisting of software and services. For

bundled packages, the Company accounts for individual products and services separately if they are distinct – i.e. if a product or service is separately identifiable from other

items in the bundled package and if a customer can benefit from it on its own or with other resources that are readily available to the customer. The consideration (including any
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discounts) is allocated between separate products and services in a bundle based on their relative stand-alone selling prices. The stand-alone selling prices are determined based

on the prices at which the Company separately sells the software licenses and professional services.   For items that are not sold separately (e.g. additional features) the

Company estimates stand-alone selling prices using the adjusted market assessment approach. When we provide a free trial period, we do not begin to recognize recurring

revenue until the trial period has ended and the customer has been billed for the services.

 

Software Licenses - The Company’sCompany's software licenses typically provide a perpetual right to use the Company’sCompany's software. The Company also sells

term-based software licenses that expire and Software-as-a-Service (“SaaS” ("SaaS") based software which are referred to as subscription arrangements. The Company does not

customize its software nor are installation services required, as the customer has a right to utilize internal resources or a third-party service company. The software is delivered

before related services are provided and are functional without professional services or customer support. The Company has concluded that its software licenses are functional

intellectual property that are distinct, as the user can benefit from the software on its own. The software license revenue could be recognized upon transfer of control or when

the software is made available for download, as this is the point that the user of the software can direct the use of, and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits from,

the functional intellectual property. However, historical experience shows that customers regularly renegotiate the number of licenses during the installation process. 

Therefore, the Company recognizes revenue from software licenses when the setup is complete.  The Company does not recognize software revenue related to the renewal of

subscription software licenses earlier than the beginning of the subscription period.

 

 

· SNAPsolution® - a comprehensive, IP-based platform that provides a broad suite of UC services including hosted Private Branch Exchange (PBX), auto-

attendant, call center, conferencing, and mobility. The platform includes a broad range of feature-sets, custom-built to provide unprecedented levels of

flexibility, making the solution competitive with the market’s leading players. SNAPsolution includes a full suite of Voice over Internet Protocol (VoIP)/UC

features with one low cost universal license, as opposed to pricing each feature individually. The Company licenses its platform based on concurrent

sessions, not per seat/per feature. This allows service providers to oversubscribe their networks, driving down the cost per seat as volume increases. As the

service provider increases their customer base, they only have to ensure they have sufficient concurrent call licenses to support users across the network.

The Company recognizes one-time upfront software license revenue when the software setup is complete.

 
· SNAPaccel – a Software-as-a-Service (“SaaS” ("SaaS") based software license referred to as subscription arrangements. The Company recognizes revenue as

subscriptions are provided in service revenue on a monthly basis.
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Subscription Maintenance and Support - Subscription maintenance and support revenue includes revenue from maintenance service contracts, customer support, and

other supportive services. The Company offers warranties on its products. The warranty period for the Company’s licensed software is generally 90 days. Certain of the

Company’sCompany's warranties are considered to be assurance-type in nature and do not cover anything beyond ensuring that the product is functioning as intended. Based

on the guidance in ASC 606, assurance-type warranties do not represent separate performance obligations. The Company also sells separately-priced maintenance service

contracts, which qualify as service-type warranties and represent separate performance obligations. The Company does not typically allow and has no history of accepting

material product returns.  Customer support includes software updates on a when-and-if-available basis, telephone support, integrated web-based support and bug fixes or

patches. Subscription and maintenance support revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the customer support agreement, which is typically one year.

 

Professional Services and Other - The Company’sCompany's professional services include consulting, technical support, resident engineer services, design services and

installation services. Revenue from professional services and other is recognized when the performance obligation is complete and the customer has accepted the performance

obligation.

16

Table of Contents
 

Disaggregation of Revenue

 

In the following table, revenue is disaggregated by primary major product line, and timing of revenue recognition. The table also includes a reconciliation of the

disaggregated revenue with the reportable segments.

 

Three Months Ended June 30,
2023

 
Cloud

 
Software

 
Total

 

Three Months Ended September 30,

2023
 

Cloud
 

Software
 

Total
 

(In thousands)   Telecommunications  Solutions   Reportable     Telecommunications  Solutions   Reportable  

  Segment   Segment   Segments     Segment     Segment     Segments  

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us

©2023 Refi nitiv.  Al l  rights reserved. Republ ication or redistribution of Refi nitiv content, including
by fram ing or sim i lar m eans, is prohibi ted
w ithout the prior w ri tten consent of Refi nitiv.  'Refi nitiv' and the Refi nitiv logo  are
registered tradem arks of Refi nitiv and i ts affi l iated
com panies.

20/69

Major products/services lines                            

Desktop devices   $ 1,432   $ -   $ 1,432  

Telecommunications equipment   $ 1,666   $ -   $ 1,666  

Equipment financing revenue   118   -   118     133   -   133  

Telecommunications services   6,232   -   6,232     6,299   -   6,299  

Fees, commissions, and other,
recognized over time

 
477

 
-

 
477

   
479

 
-

 
479

 

One time fees, commissions and
other

 
481

 
-

 
481

   
606

 
-

 
606

 

Software licenses   -   658   658     -   971   971  

Software license and maintenance
and support subscriptions

 
-

 
3,050

 
3,050

   
-

 
3,490

 
3,490

 

Professional services and other     -     222     222       -       230       230  

  $ 8,740   $ 3,930   $ 12,670     $ 9,183     $ 4,691     $ 13,874  

Timing of revenue recognition                            

Products, services, and fees
recognized at a point in time

 
$ 1,913

 
$ 880

 
$ 2,793

   
$ 2,272

 
$ 1,201

 
$ 3,473

 

Products, services, and fees
transferred over time

   
6,827

   
3,050

   
9,877

     
6,911

     
3,490

     
10,401

 

  $ 8,740   $ 3,930   $ 12,670     $ 9,183     $ 4,691     $ 13,874  

 

Three Months Ended June 30,
2022

 
Cloud

 
Software

 
Total

 

Three Months Ended September 30,

2022
 

Cloud
 

Software
 

Total
 

(In thousands)   Telecommunications  Solutions   Reportable     Telecommunications  Solutions   Reportable  

  Segment   Segment   Segments     Segment     Segment     Segments  

Major products/services lines                            

Desktop devices   $ 692   $ -   $ 692  

Telecommunications equipment   $ 760   $ -   $ 760  

Equipment financing revenue   79   -   79     87   -   87  

Telecommunications services   3,802   -   3,802     3,831   -   3,831  

Fees, commissions, and other,
recognized over time

 
413

 
-

 
413

   
423

 
-

 
423

 

One time fees, commissions and
other

 
262

 
-

 
262

   
132

 
-

 
132

 

Software licenses   -   764   764     -   985   985  

Software license and maintenance
and support subscriptions

 
-

 
2,686

 
2,686

   
-

 
2,759

 
2,759

 

Professional services and other     -     148     148       -       131       131  

  $ 5,248   $ 3,598   $ 8,846     $ 5,233     $ 3,875     $ 9,108  

Timing of revenue recognition                            

Products, services, and fees
recognized at a point in time

 
$ 954

 
$ 912

 
$ 1,866

   
$ 892

 
$ 1,116

 
$ 2,008

 

Products, services, and fees
transferred over time

   
4,294

   
2,686

   
6,980

     
4,341

     
2,759

     
7,100

 

  $ 5,248   $ 3,598   $ 8,846     $ 5,233     $ 3,875     $ 9,108  

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023   Cloud     Software     Total  

(In thousands)   Telecommunications    Solutions     Reportable  

    Segment     Segment     Segments  

Major products/services lines                  

Telecommunications equipment   $ 4,323    $ -     $ 4,323 

Equipment financing revenue     356      -       356 
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Telecommunications services     18,587      -       18,587 

Fees, commissions, and other, recognized over time     1,392      -       1,392 

One time fees, commissions and other     1,648      -       1,648 

Software licenses     -       2,662      2,662 

Software license and maintenance and support subscriptions     -       9,506      9,506 

Professional services and other     -       561      561 

    $ 26,306    $ 12,729    $ 39,035 

Timing of revenue recognition                        

Products and fees recognized at a point in time   $ 5,971    $ 3,223    $ 9,194 

Services and fees transferred over time     20,335      9,506      29,841 

    $ 26,306    $ 12,729    $ 39,035 
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Six Months Ended June 30, 2023   Cloud     Software     Total  

(In thousands)   Telecommunications    Solutions     Reportable  

    Segment     Segment     Segments  

Major products/services lines                  

Desktop devices   $ 2,657    $ -     $ 2,657 

Equipment financing revenue     223      -       223 

Telecommunications services     12,288      -       12,288 

Fees, commissions, and other, recognized over time     913      -       913 

One time fees, commissions and other     1,042      -       1,042 

Software licenses     -       1,691      1,691 

Software license and maintenance and support subscriptions     -       6,016      6,016 

Professional services and other     -       331      331 

    $ 17,123    $ 8,038    $ 25,161 

Timing of revenue recognition                        

Products and fees recognized at a point in time   $ 3,699    $ 2,022    $ 5,721 

Services and fees transferred over time     13,424      6,016      19,440 

    $ 17,123    $ 8,038    $ 25,161 

Six Months Ended June 30, 2022   Cloud     Software     Total  

(In thousands)   Telecommunications    Solutions     Reportable  

    Segment     Segment     Segments  

Major products/services lines                  

Desktop devices   $ 1,184    $ -     $ 1,184 

Equipment financing revenue     151      -       151 

Telecommunications services     7,561      -       7,561 

Fees, commissions, and other, recognized over time     846      -       846 

One time fees, commissions and other     396      -       396 

Software licenses     -       1,409      1,409 

Software license and maintenance and support subscriptions     -       5,191      5,191 

Professional services and other     -       266      266 

    $ 10,138    $ 6,866    $ 17,004 

Timing of revenue recognition                        

Products and fees recognized at a point in time   $ 1,580    $ 1,675    $ 3,255 

Services and fees transferred over time     8,558      5,191      13,749 

    $ 10,138    $ 6,866    $ 17,004 
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Nine Months Ended September 30, 2022   Cloud     Software     Total  

(In thousands)   Telecommunications    Solutions     Reportable  

    Segment     Segment     Segments  

Major products/services lines                  

Telecommunications equipment   $ 1,944    $ -     $ 1,944 

Equipment financing revenue     238      -       238 

Telecommunications services     11,392      -       11,392 

Fees, commissions, and other, recognized over time     1,269      -       1,269 

One time fees, commissions and other     528      -       528 

Software licenses     -       2,394      2,394 

Software license and maintenance and support subscriptions     -       7,950      7,950 

Professional services and other     -       397      397 

    $ 15,371    $ 10,741    $ 26,112 

Timing of revenue recognition                        

Products and fees recognized at a point in time   $ 2,472    $ 2,791    $ 5,263 

Services and fees transferred over time     12,899      7,950      20,849 

    $ 15,371    $ 10,741    $ 26,112 

 

Contract balances

 

                The following table provides information about receivables, contract assets, and contract liabilities from contracts with customers.customers:

 

    June 30,     December 31,  

(In thousands)   2023     2022  

Receivables, which are included in trade receivables, net of allowance            

for credit losses   $ 3,549    $ 3,297 

Contract assets, net of allowance for credit losses     267      318 

Contract liabilities     3,405      3,585 
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September

30,
   

December 31,
 

(In thousands)   2023     2022  

Receivables, which are included in trade receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts   $ 3,873    $ 3,297 

Contract assets, net of allowance for credit losses     299      318 

Contract liabilities     3,176      3,585 

 

Significant changes in the contract assets and the contract liabilities balances during the period are as follows:

 

  For the Six Months Ended   For the Year Ended     For the Nine Months Ended   For the Year Ended  

(In
thousands)

  June 30, 2023   December 31, 2022     September 30, 2023   December 31, 2022  

 
Contract Assets

 
Contract

Liabilities
 

Contract Assets
 

Contract

Liabilities
   

Contract Assets
 

Contract

Liabilities
 

Contract Assets
 

Contract

Liabilities
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Revenue
recognized
that was
included in
the
contract
liability
balance at
the
beginning
of the
period

 

$ -

 

$ (2,507 )

 

$ -

 

$ (3,046 )

 

$ -

 

$ (3,256 ) 

 

$ -

 

$ (3,046 )
Increase
due to cash
received,
excluding
amounts
recognized
as revenue
during the
period

 

-

 

2,327

 

-

 

3,603

   

-

 

2,847

 

-

 

3,603

 

Transferred
to
receivables
from
contract
assets
recognized
at the
beginning
of the
period

 

(123 )

 

-

 

(166 )

 

-

   

(186 )

 

-

 

(166 )

 

-

 

Increase due

to additional

unamortized

discounts

 

72

 

-

 

223

 

-

   

167

 

-

 

223

 

-

 

 

Contract assets allowance for credit losses

 

Our contract assets balance consists of the Company’s rights to consideration for work completed but not billed as of the reporting date. The contract assets are

transferred to receivables when the rights become unconditional. Contract assets were as follows (in thousands):

 

    June 30,     December 31,  

    2023     2022  

Gross contract assets   $ 290    $ 318 

Less: allowance for credit losses     (23)     -  

Contract assets, net of allowance for credit losses   $ 267    $ 318 

 

   
September

30,
   

December 31,
 

    2023     2022  

Gross contract assets   $ 333    $ 318 

Less: allowance for credit losses     (34)     -  

Contract assets, net of allowance for credit losses   $ 299    $ 318 
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                The allowance for credit losses was as follows (in thousands):

 

Balance at December 31, 2022   $ -     $ -  

Cumulative effect of accounting change   29     29  

Provision   2     2  

Write-offs   -     -  

Recoveries and other     -       -  

Balance at March 31, 2023   $ 31     $ 31  

Cumulative effect of accounting change   -  

Provision   (8 )   (8 )
Write-offs   -     -  

Recoveries and other     -       -  

Balance at June 30, 2023   $ 23     $ 23  

Provision   11  

Write-offs   -  

Recoveries and other     -  

Balance at September 30, 2023   $ 34  

 

The allowance for credit losses is determined based on an assessment of historical collection experience using the loss-rate method as well as consideration of current

and future economic conditions and changes in our loss-rate trends. We utilize a five-year lookback period to establish our estimate of expected credit losses, as our contractual

terms range from three to five years. Based on that assessment, the allowance for credit losses as a percent of gross contract assets increased to 7.9% 10.3% at June 30,

2023September 30, 2023 from 0% at December 31, 2022.
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Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations

 

The following table includes estimated revenue expected to be recognized in the future related to performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied)

at the end of the reporting period (in thousands):

 

 
2023

 
2024

 
2025

 
2026

 
2027 and

thereafter
 

Total
   

2023
   

2024
   

2025
   

2026
   

2027 and

thereafter
   

Total
 

Desktop devices   $ 361                   $ 361     $ 271                   $ 271  

Telecommunications
services

 
$ 9,191

 
11,332

 
7,866

 
4,891

 
2,111

 
$ 35,391

   
$ 5,715

 
16,248

 
11,157

 
6,174

 
3,549

 
$ 42,843

 

Software Solutions   $ 6,031   4,986   3,155   1,023   274   $ 15,469     $ 5,368   7,968   4,461   2,128   394   $ 20,319  

All consideration from

contracts with

customers is included in

the amounts presented

above
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4. Earnings Per Common Share
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Basic net income/(loss) per common share is computed by dividing the net incomeincome/(loss) for the period by the weighted-average number of common shares

outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per common share is computed giving effect to all dilutive common stock equivalents, consisting of common stock options.

Diluted net loss per common share for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2022 and nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 is the same as

basic net loss per common share because the common share equivalents were anti-dilutive due to the net loss. The following table sets forth the computation of basic and

diluted net income per common share:

 

 
Three Months Ended June 30,

 
Six Months Ended June 30,

   
Three Months Ended September

30,
 

Nine Months Ended September 30,
 

  2023   2022   2023   2022     2023     2022     2023     2022  

Net loss (in
thousands)
(A)

 

$ (545 )
 

$ (896 )
 

$ (2,127 )
 

$ (2,116 )
Net

income/(loss)

(in thousands)

(A)

 

$ 1,704

 

$ (696 )

 

$ (423 )

 

$ (2,812 )
                                   

Weighted-
average share
reconciliation:

                                   

Weighted-

average basic

shares

outstanding (B)

 

25,972,628

 

22,456,420

 

25,853,998

 

22,347,510

   

25,995,507

 

22,620,703

 

25,901,686

 

22,439,575

 

Dilutive effect

of stock-based

awards

   

-
   

-
   

-
   

-
     

1,687,258
     

-
     

-
     

-
 

Diluted
weighted-
average
outstanding
shares of
common
stock (C)

   

25,972,628

   

22,456,420

   

25,853,998

   

22,347,510

     

27,682,765

     

22,620,703

     

25,901,686

     

22,439,575

 

                                   

Earnings per
common
share:

                                   

Basic (A/B)   $ (0.02 )   $ (0.04 )   $ (0.08 )   $ (0.09 )   $ 0.07   $ (0.03 )   $ (0.02 )   $ (0.13 )
Diluted

(A/C)
 
$ (0.02 )

 
$ (0.04 )

 
$ (0.08 )

 
$ (0.09 )

 
$ 0.06

 
$ (0.03 )

 
$ (0.02 )

 
$ (0.13 )

 

For the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022, the following potentially dilutive common stock, including awards granted under

our equity incentive compensation plans, were excluded from the computation of diluted net income per share because including them would be anti-dilutive:

 

    Three Months Ended June 30,     Six Months Ended June 30,  

    2023     2022     2023     2022  

Stock options     4,907,395      3,304,775      4,609,364      2,300,562 

    Three Months Ended September 30,     Nine Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     2023     2022  

Stock options     4,708,364      3,140,362      4,582,503      2,471,886 

 

5. Acquisitions

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us

©2023 Refi nitiv.  Al l  rights reserved. Republ ication or redistribution of Refi nitiv content, including
by fram ing or sim i lar m eans, is prohibi ted
w ithout the prior w ri tten consent of Refi nitiv.  'Refi nitiv' and the Refi nitiv logo  are
registered tradem arks of Refi nitiv and i ts affi l iated
com panies.

26/69

 

Allegiant Networks, LLC Business Acquisition

 

On October 17, 2022, the Company entered into an Acquisition Agreement with Allegiant Networks, LLC, a Kansas limited liability company (the “Allegiant Networks”) to

acquire from Seller one hundred percent (100%) of the issued and outstanding shares of Allegiant Networks in exchange for (i) a cash payment at closing in the amount of $2.0

million, (ii) a three-year promissory note by the Company in favor of Seller in the amount of $1.1 million, and (iii) 2,461,538 shares of the Company’s common stock, par value

$0.001 per share. Shares issued in the transaction shall bewere fully restricted for a period of 6 months from the date of issuance and subject to lock-up thereafter. Pursuant to

the lock-up agreement, after 6 months, 25% of the shares will bewere permitted to be sold, with an additional 25% permitted to be sold every 6-month period thereafter. On

November 1, 2022, the Company closed the transaction, and the Company issued the seller cash consideration of $2.0 million, a three-year promissory note for $1.1 million, and

2,461,538 shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share valued at $2.57 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $9.4 million.

 

(in thousands)
 

December 31,

2022
 

Consideration:      

Cash   $ 2,000 

Common stock     6,326 

Note Payable     1,100 

Total consideration   $ 9,426 
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(in thousands)

 

December

31,

2022

 

Consideration:      

Cash   $ 2,000 

Common stock     6,326 

Note Payable     1,100 

Total consideration   $ 9,426 

 

The acquisition was accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting and the operating results of Allegiant Networks have been included in our consolidated

financial statements as of the closing date of the acquisition. Under the acquisition method of accounting, the aggregate amount of consideration paid by us was allocated to

Allegiant Networks’ net tangible assets and intangible assets based on their estimated fair values as of the acquisition closing date. The excess of the purchase price over the

value of the net tangible assets and intangible assets was recorded to goodwill. The factors contributing to the recognition of goodwill were based upon our conclusion that

there are strategic and synergistic benefits that are expected to be realized from the acquisition. Goodwill, which is non-deductible for tax purposes, represents the excess of the

purchase price over the fair value of the net tangible and intangible assets acquired and is primarily attributable to the customer relationships of the acquired business and

expected synergies at the time of the acquisition.
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We retained an independent third-party valuation firm to assist management in our valuation of the acquired assets and liabilities. The following table presents the final

allocation of the purchase price for Allegiant Networks as of December 31, 2022 (in thousands):

 

   

Final Purchase

Price

Allocation

 

Total purchase price   $ 9,426 

Cash     586 

Accounts receivables     759 

Prepaid expenses     48 

Inventory     484 

Other assets     12 
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Property, plant & equipment     319 

Right to use assets     861 

Intangible assets acquired (FV)     7,000 

Total identifiable assets     10,069 

         

Accounts payable     1,162 

Accrued expenses     714 

Contract liability     917 

Operating lease liability     877 

Direct financing liability     142 

Buyers note     1,100 

Deferred tax liability     1,922 

Total liabilities assumed     6,834 

Total goodwill   $ 5,091 

 

The fair values of the customer relationships was established based upon the income approach. The income approach relies on an estimation of the present value of the

future monetary benefits expected to flow to the owner of an asset during its remaining economic life. This approach requires a projection of the cash flow that the asset is

expected to generate in the future. The projected cash flow is discounted to its present value using a rate of return, or discount rate that accounts for the time value of money

and the degree of risk inherent in the asset. The income approach may take the form of a “relief from royalty” methodology, a cost savings methodology, a “with and without”

methodology, or excess earnings methodology, depending on the specific asset under consideration. 

 

The customer relationships was valued using the multi-period excess earnings method. The Inherent in the multi-period excess earnings method is the recognition that,

in most cases, all of the assets of the business, both tangible and intangible, contribute to the generation of the cash flow of the business and the net cash flows attributable to

the subject asset must recognize the support of the other assets which contribute to the realization of the cash flows. This future cash flow was then discounted using an

estimated required rate of return for the asset to determine the present value of the future cash flows attributable to the asset. The key assumptions used in valuing the

customer relationships acquired are as follows: weighted average cost of capital of 16.0%, tax rate of 25.0%, and estimated economic life of 15 years.
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The following unaudited pro forma information presents our consolidated results of operations as if Allegiant Networks had been included in our consolidated results

since January 1, 2022:

  

  For the Six Months Ended June 30,

(Unaudited, in thousands)

   

For the Nine Months Ended

September 30,

 (Unaudited, in thousands)

 

  2023   2022     2023     2022  

Revenues   $ 25,161   $ 22,385     $ 39,035   $ 34,360  

Net loss   (2,127 )   (1,965 )   (423 )   (2,580 )
Earnings per share   $ (0.08 )   $ (0.08 )   $ (0.02 )   $ (0.10 )
  

The unaudited pro forma financial information is presented for informational purposes only and may not necessarily reflect the Company’s future results of operations

or what the results of operations would have been had the Company owned and operated Allegiant Networks as of January 1, 2022.

 

Acquisition related expenses incurred by us in connection with the Allegiant Networks acquisition totaled $0 and $0 for the three months ended June 30,

2023September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and $1 and $0 for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and are recorded within

general and administrative expenses in our consolidated statements of operations.
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6. Trade Receivables and Allowance for Credit Losses
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Our trade receivables balance consists of traditional trade receivables. Trade receivables were as follows (in thousands):

 

  June 30,   December 31,     September 30,   December 31,  

  2023   2022     2023     2022  

Gross trade receivables   $ 3,693   $ 3,428     $ 3,983   $ 3,428  

Less: allowance for credit losses     (144 )     (131 )     (110 )     (131 )
Trade receivables, net   $ 3,549   $ 3,297     $ 3,873     $ 3,297  

                   

Current trade receivables, net   $ 3,549   $ 3,297     $ 3,873   $ 3,297  

Long-term trade receivables, net     -     -       -       -  

Trade receivables, net   $ 3,549   $ 3,297     $ 3,873     $ 3,297  

 

                The allowance for credit losses was as follows (in thousands):

 

Balance at December 31, 2022   $ 131     $ 131  

Cumulative effect of accounting change   18     18  

Provision   45     45  

Write-offs   (7 )   (7 )
Recoveries and other     -       -  

Balance at March 31, 2023   $ 187     $ 187  

Cumulative effect of accounting change   -  

Provision   68     68  

Write-offs   (111 )   (111 )
Recoveries and other     -       -  

Balance at June 30, 2023   $ 144     $ 144  

Provision   (30 )
Write-offs   (4 )
Recoveries and other     -  

Balance at September 30, 2023   $ 110  

 

The allowance for credit losses is determined based on an assessment of historical collection experience using the aging schedule method as well as consideration of

current and future economic conditions. Based on that assessment, the allowance for credit losses as a percent of gross accounts receivable increased decreased to 3.9% 2.8% at

June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 from 3.8% at December 31, 2022.
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7. Equipment Financing Receivables and Allowance for Credit Losses

 

Our equipment financing receivables balance consists of sales-type leases arising from lease financing of cloud telecommunication equipment (IP or cloud telephone

desktop devices) bundled and sold with our cloud telecommunications services. The majority of our leases that qualify as sales-type leases are non-cancelable and include

cancellation penalties approximately equal to the full value of the lease receivables. Revenue from sales-type leases is recognized upon installation and the interest portion is

deferred and recognized as earned. These receivables are typically collateralized by a security interest in the underlying equipment. Equipment financing receivables were as

follows (in thousands):

 

  June 30,   December 31,     September 30,   December 31,  

  2023   2022     2023     2022  

Gross equipment financing receivables   $ 3,418   $ 2,666     $ 3,746   $ 2,666  

Less: unearned income   (1,000 )   (776 )   (1,103 )   (776 )
Less: allowance for credit losses     (145 )     -       (161 )     -  

Equipment financing receivables, net   $ 2,273   $ 1,890     $ 2,482     $ 1,890  
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Current equipment financing receivables, net   $ 735   $ 635     $ 812   $ 635  

Long-term equipment financing receivables, net     1,538     1,255       1,670       1,255  

Equipment financing receivables, net   $ 2,273   $ 1,890     $ 2,482     $ 1,890  
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                A summary of our gross equipment financing receivables’ future contractual maturities, is as follows (in thousands):

 

Year ending December 31,            

2023 remaining   $ 643     $ 358  

2024   1,125     1,287  

2025   801     965  

2026   491     626  

2027   312     410  

2028 and thereafter     46       100  

Total   $ 3,418     $ 3,746  

 

Allowance for Credit Losses

 

The allowance for credit losses was as follows (in thousands):

 

Balance at December 31, 2022   $ -  

Cumulative effect of accounting change     112 

Provision     19 

Write-offs     (4)
Recoveries and other     -  

Balance at March 31, 2023   $ 127 

Cumulative effect of accounting change     -  

Provision     23 

Write-offs     (5)
Recoveries and other     -  

Balance at June 30, 2023   $ 145 
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Balance at December 31, 2022   $ -  

Cumulative effect of accounting change     112 

Provision     19 

Write-offs     (4)

Recoveries and other     -  

Balance at March 31, 2023   $ 127 

Provision     23 

Write-offs     (5)

Recoveries and other     -  

Balance at June 30, 2023   $ 145 

Provision     23 

Write-offs     (7)

Recoveries and other     -  

Balance at September 30, 2023   $ 161 
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Aging of Receivables

 

                The aging of gross equipment financing receivables was as follows (in thousands):

 

  June 30,   December 31,     September 30,   December 31,  

  2023   2022     2023     2022  

Past due amounts 0 - 90 days   $ 2,272   $ 1,888     $ 2,480   $ 1,888  

Past due amounts > 90 days   1   2       2       2  

Total   $ 2,273   $ 1,890     $ 2,482     $ 1,890  

 

Our equipment financing receivable portfolio is primarily in the United States. Consistent with our adoption of ASC 326, effective January 1, 2023 (see Note 1 – Recently

Adopted Accounting Pronouncements) Pronouncements), the allowance for credit losses is determined principally based on an assessment of origination year and past collection

experience as well as consideration of current and future economic conditions and changes in our customer collection trends. Based on that assessment, the allowance for

credit losses increased to 6% 6.1% of gross equipment financing receivables (net of unearned income) at June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 from 0% at December 31, 2022.  
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The allowance for credit losses represents an estimate of the losses expected to be incurred from the Company’sCompany's equipment financing receivable portfolio.

The projected loss rates are primarily based upon historical loss experience adjusted for judgments about the probable effects of relevant observable data including current and

future economic conditions as well as delinquency trends, resolution rates, and the aging of receivables. The allowance for credit losses for equipment finance receivables is

inherently more difficult to estimate than the allowance for trade receivables because the underlying lease portfolio has an average maturity, at any time, of approximately

three to five years and contains unbilled amounts. We consider all available information in our quarterly assessments of the adequacy of the allowance for credit losses. We

believe our estimates, including any qualitative adjustments, are reasonable and have considered all reasonably available information about past events, current conditions, and

reasonable and supportable forecasts of future events and economic conditions. The identification of account-specific exposure is not a significant factor in establishing the

allowance for credit losses for equipment finance receivables. We continue to monitor developments in future economic conditions and trends, and as a result, our reserve may

need to be updated in future periods.

 

The table below shows gross equipment financing receivables and current period gross write offs by year of origination (in thousands):

 

    June 30, 2023     December
31, 2022  

   

2023

   

2022

   

2021

   

2020

   

2019

   

Prior

   

Total

Equipment

Financing

Receivables

   

Total

Equipment

Financing

Receivables

 

United States   $ 875      912      280      231      115      5    $ 2,418    $ 1,890 

Current period gross write offs   $ 2      4      1       1       1       -     $ 9    $ 20 

   
September 30, 2023

   
December

31, 2022
 

   

2023

   

2022

   

2021

   

2020

   

2019

   

Prior

   

Total

Equipment

Financing

Receivables

   

Total

Equipment

Financing

Receivables

 

United States   $ 1,261      849      247      200      85      1    $ 2,643    $ 1,890 

Current period gross write offs   $ 7      5      1       2       1       -     $ 16    $ 20 

 

8. Prepaid Expenses

 

Prepaid expenses consisted of the following (in thousands):

 

    June 30,     December 31,  

    2023     2022  
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Prepaid corporate insurance   $ 194    $ 117 

Prepaid software services and support     308      122 

Prepaid employee insurance premiums     176      30 

Prepaid Nasdaq listing fee     31      15 

User group meeting     126      -  

Other prepaid expenses     178      147 

Total prepaid expenses   $ 1,013    $ 431 
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September

30,
   

December 31,
 

    2023     2022  

Prepaid corporate insurance   $ 127    $ 117 

Prepaid software services and support     368      122 

Prepaid employee insurance premiums     179      30 

Prepaid Nasdaq listing fee     15      15 

User group meeting     174      -  

Other prepaid expenses     128      147 

Total prepaid expenses   $ 991    $ 431 

 

9. Property and Equipment and Property and Equipment, Held for Sale

 

Property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):

 

  June 30,   December 31,     September 30,   December 31,  

  2023   2022     2023     2022  

Building   $ -   $ 2,000     $ -   $ 2,000  

Land   -   500     -   500  

Computer and office equipment   2,735   2,726     2,735   2,726  

Computer software   647   576     647   576  

Internal-use software   14   14     14   14  

Furniture and fixtures   75   75     74   75  

Vehicles   142   130     143   130  

Leasehold improvements   15   15     15   15  

Less: accumulated depreciation     (2,777 )     (2,721 )     (2,872 )     (2,721 )
Total property and equipment, net   $ 851   $ 3,315     $ 756     $ 3,315  
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Property and equipment, held for sale

 

In March 2023, the Company’s committed to and commenced a plan to sell our corporate headquarters land and building located in Tempe, Arizona. On May 16, 2023,

the Company entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement with Nectar Equities, LLC, an independent third-party, for the sale of our corporate headquarters land and building.

The Company classified the corporate headquarters land and building as property and equipment, held for sale on the condensed consolidated balance sheet as of June 30,

2023. The Company evaluated sale closed on August 9, 2023, for a purchase price of $4.0 million. The proceeds from the sale were used to repay the outstanding note payable

with Bank of America, N.A. of $1.8 million, closing costs and commissions of approximately $208, generating approximately $2.0 million in net proceeds from the sale. In

connection with the sale of the land and building, we entered into a lease agreement to leaseback the property and equipment held for salean initial term of eighteen full

calendar months, see Note 16 – Leases for impairment indicators and determined that no indicators were present. The Company intends to execute a leaseback agreement for

the building, for a period of twelve to eighteen months. Property and equipment, held for sale consisted additional details of the following (in thousands): leaseback agreement.

    June 30,     December 31,  
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    2023     2022  

Building, net   $ 1,833    $ -  

Land     500      -  

Total property and equipment, held for sale   $ 2,333    $ -  

 

Depreciation and amortization expense is included in general and administrative expenses and totaled $108$94 and $70$74 for the three months ended June 30,

2023September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and $223$318 and $140$213 for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. In

connection with the sale of our corporate headquarters, accumulated amortization of $167 was removed.

 

10. Intangible Assets and Goodwill

 

Acquired intangible assets subject to amortization consist of the following (in thousands):

 

  June 30, 2023   December 31, 2022     September 30, 2023   December 31, 2022  

 

Gross

Carrying

Amount

  Accumulated

Amortization

 

Net

Carrying

Amount

 

Gross

Carrying

Amount

  Accumulated

Amortization

 

Net

Carrying

Amount

   

Gross

Carrying

Amount

   Accumulated

Amortization

   

Net

Carrying

Amount

   

Gross

Carrying

Amount

   Accumulated

Amortization

   

Net

Carrying

Amount

 

Customer

relationships
 
$ 26,073

 
$ (4,155 )

 
$ 21,918

 
$ 26,073

 
$ (3,052 )

 
$ 23,021

   
$ 26,073

 
$ (4,708 )

 
$ 21,365

 
$ 26,073

 
$ (3,052 )

 
$ 23,021

 

Developed

technologies
 

4,900
 

(1,840 )
 

3,060
 

4,900
 

(1,410 )
 

3,490
   

4,900
 

(2,055 )
 

2,845
 

4,900
 

(1,410 )
 

3,490
 

Trademark

and trade

names

   

400
     

(238 )

   

162
     

400
     

(186 )

   

214
     

400
     

(262 )

   

138
     

400
     

(186 )

   

214
 

Total

acquired

intangible

assets

 

$ 31,373

   

$ (6,233 )

 

$ 25,140

   

$ 31,373

   

$ (4,648 )

 

$ 26,725

   

$ 31,373

   

$ (7,025 )

 

$ 24,348

   

$ 31,373

   

$ (4,648 )

 

$ 26,725

 

 

As of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, the weighted average remaining useful life for customer relationships was 13.913.6 years, and developed technologies was 4.23.9

years, and trademarks and trade names was 2.21.9 years.

 

Amortization expense for customer relationships intangible assets is included in sales and marketing expenses and totaled $539$552 and $299 for the three months

ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively and $1,078$1,630 and $597$896 for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022,

respectively. Amortization expense for developed technologies intangible assets is included in cost of software solutions revenue and totaled $215 and $221 for the three

months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively and $430$645 and $441$662 for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022,

respectively. Amortization expense for trademark and trade name intangible assets is included in general and administrative expenses and totaled $38$25 and $30$31 for the

three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively and $77$102 and $61$91 for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and

2022, respectively.
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                As of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, annual amortization of definite lived intangible assets, based on existing intangible assets and current useful lives, is estimated to

be the following (in thousands):

 

Year ending December 31,            

2023 remaining   $ 1,585     $ 793  

2024   3,028     3,028  

2025   2,770     2,770  

2026   2,457     2,457  

2027   2,202     2,202  

Thereafter     13,098       13,098  
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Total   $ 25,140     $ 24,348  
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The following table provides a summary of changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill (in thousands):

 

  Goodwill      Goodwill  

Balance at January 1, 2022   $ 36,972     $ 36,972  

Allegiant Networks business acquisition   5,091     5,091  

Impairment     (32,609 )     (32,609 )
Balance at December 31, 2022   $ 9,454     $ 9,454  

Additions     -       -  

Balance at June 30, 2023   $ 9,454  

Balance at September 30, 2023   $ 9,454  

 

On December 31, 2022, the Company determined there was a triggering event, primarily caused by a sustained decrease in the Company’sCompany's stock price and we

retained an independent third-party valuation firm to assist management in performing the quantitative impairment tests. The results of the goodwill and intangible asset

impairment tests indicated that the carrying value of goodwill exceeded the estimated fair value and no impairment was required for intangible assets. At December 31, 2022,

the Company recorded an impairment of $32.6 million related to its goodwill book value for the software solutions operating segment.

 

11. Accrued Expenses

 

Accrued expenses consisted of the following (in thousands):

   

    June 30,     December 31,  

    2023     2022  

Accrued wages and benefits   $ 1,900    $ 2,427 

Accrued accounts payable     1,245      987 

Accrued sales and telecommunications taxes     934      846 

Product warranty liability     70      55 

Credit cards     278      259 

Other     323      316 

Total accrued expenses   $ 4,750    $ 4,890 
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September

30,
   

December 31,
 

    2023     2022  

Accrued wages and benefits   $ 1,963    $ 2,427 

Accrued accounts payable     1,261      987 

Accrued sales and telecommunications taxes     1,144      846 

Product warranty liability     77      55 

Credit cards     278      259 

Other     330      316 

Total accrued expenses   $ 5,053    $ 4,890 

  

The changes in aggregate product warranty liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2022 and the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 were as

follows (in thousands):
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Warranty

Liabilities
   

Warranty

Liabilities
 

Balance at January 1, 2022   $ 50     $ 50  

Accrual for warranties   55     55  

Adjustments related to pre-existing warranties   (26 )   (26 )
Warranty settlements     (24 )     (24 )

Balance at December 31, 2022   55     55  

Accrual for warranties   27     38  

Warranty settlements     (12 )     (16 )
Balance at June 30, 2023   $ 70  

Balance at September 30, 2023   $ 77  

 

Product warranty expense is included in cost of product revenue expense and totaled $13$11 and $17$15 for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023

and 2022, respectively and $27$38 and $28$43 for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
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12. Notes Payable

 

Notes payable consists of a short and long-term financing arrangements:

 

 
June 30,

 
December

31,
   

September 30,
 

December 31,
 

  2023   2022     2023     2022  

Notes payable   $ 3,032   $ 3,025     $ 1,160   $ 3,025  

Less: current notes payable     (525 )     (420 )     (452 )     (420 )
Notes payable, net of current portion   $ 2,507   $ 2,605     $ 708     $ 2,605  

 

On February 27, 2023, we entered into a promissory note with CrossFirst Bank in the amount of $278,070.$278. The promissory note has a term of three (3) years with

monthly payments of Eight Thousand Five Hundred Forty-Three and 12/100 Dollars ($8,543.12), including interest at of 6.58%, beginning on March 27, 2023. Additionally, the

promissory note is subject to certain financial covenants.

 

On November 1, 2022, as part of the acquisition of Allegiant Networks, we entered into a promissory note with the seller in the amount of $1.1 million. The loan

agreement has a term of three (3) years with quarterly payments of Ninety-Eight Thousand Three Hundred Eighty and 54/100 Dollars ($98,380.54), including interest at 4.00%,

beginning on April 1, 2023.

 

As part of the November 1, 2022 acquisition of Allegiant Networks, we assumed two promissory notes with CrossFirst Bank. One loan agreement for $125,000$125 has a

term of three (3) years with monthly payments of Three Thousand Seven Hundred Seven and 62/100 Dollars ($3,707.62), including interest of 4.25%, beginning on October 30,

2020. On February 27, 2023, the balance of this note was paid off and added to the promissory note with CrossFirst Bank. The second loan agreement for $150,000$150 has a

term of three (3) years with monthly payments of Four Thousand Four Hundred Sixty-Six and 08/100 Dollars ($4,466.08), including interest of 4.50%, beginning on September 1,

2021. On February 27, 2023, the balance of this note was paid off and added to the promissory note with CrossFirst Bank.

 

On January 27, 2020, we entered into a Fixed Rate Term Loan Agreement with Bank of America, N.A. to finance Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) $2.0 million to purchase

our corporate office building. The Loan Agreement hashad a term of seven (7) years with monthly payments of Eleven Thousand Eight Hundred Forty-One and 15/100 Dollars

($11,841.15), including interest at of 3.67%, beginning on March 1, 2020, secured by the office building. On August 9, 2023, the Company entered into a sale leaseback agreement

and used a portion of the proceed to repay the note payable in full.
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As of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, future principal payments are scheduled as follows (in thousands):
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Year ending December 31,            

2023 remaining   $ 259     $ 111  

2024   536     457  

2025   560     478  

2026   200     114  

2027   1,477     -  

2028 and thereafter     -       -  

Total   $ 3,032     $ 1,160  

 

13. Line of Credit

 

The Company maintains a line of credit with a maximum principal amount of $700, payable upon demand. The line of credit expires on February 27, 2024. The line of

credit bears interest at 0.50% over the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate. As of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, there was an outstanding balance of $0, and $700 remained

available for borrowing. The line of credit is collateralized by all company assets. Additionally, the line of credit isCompany assets and subject to certain financial covenants.
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14. Fair Value Measurements

 

We have financial instruments as of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 for which the fair value is summarized below (in thousands):

 

  June 30, 2023   December 31, 2022     September 30, 2023   December 31, 2022  

 
Carrying Value

 
Estimated Fair

Value
 

Carrying Value
 

Estimated Fair

Value
   

Carrying Value
   

Estimated Fair

Value
   

Carrying Value
   

Estimated Fair

Value
 

Assets:                                    

Trade

receivables, net
 

$ 3,549
 

$ 3,549
 

$ 3,297
 

$ 3,297
   

$ 3,873
 

$ 3,873
 

$ 3,297
 

$ 3,297
 

Equipment

financing

receivables

 

2,273

 

2,273

 

1,890

 

1,890

   

2,482

 

2,482

 

1,890

 

1,890

 

Liabilities:                                    

Finance lease

obligations
 

$ 136
 

$ 136
 

$ 193
 

$ 193
   

$ 117
 

$ 117
 

$ 193
 

$ 193
 

Notes payable   3,032   2,651   3,025   2,724     1,160   1,114   3,025   2,724  

 

We have no liabilities for which fair value is recognized in the balance sheet on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022.

 

15. Income Taxes

 

Our effective tax rate for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022 was 4.6% 1.9% and (8.4% (4.4%), respectively, which resulted in an income

tax benefit benefit/(provision) of $(24) $(33) and $82, $32, respectively. Our effective tax rate for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022 was 2.3%

(23.7%) and (11.8% (10.1%), respectively, which resulted in an income tax benefit benefit/(provision) of $(48) $(81) and $283, $315, respectively.

 

As of each reporting date, management considers new evidence, both positive and negative, that could affect its view of the future realization of deferred tax assets. The

ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income in the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible.

We reduce the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets by a valuation allowance if, based on the evidence available, it is more-likely-than-not that such assets will not be realized.

In making the assessment under the more-likely-than-not standard, appropriate consideration must be given to all positive and negative evidence related to the realization of

the deferred tax assets. This assessment considers, among other matters, the nature, frequency and severity of current and cumulative losses, forecasts of future profitability,

the duration of statutory carry-forward periods by jurisdiction, unitary versus stand-alone state tax filings, our experience with loss carryforwards expiring unutilized, and all tax

planning alternatives that may be available. As of December 31, 2022, management reviewed the weight of all the positive and negative evidence available. Management

reviewed negative evidence such as three years of cumulative pretax loss in the U.S. federal tax jurisdiction, and positive evidence such as projections of future pretax income

and the duration of statutory carry-forward periods. As of December 31, 2022, the Company hashad a cumulative pretax loss for the three-year lookback, which is considered
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significant objectively verifiable negative evidence. Management also evaluated projections of future pretax income and the duration of statutory carry-forward periods to

determine if the  NOL net operating loss  carryforwards could be utilized in whole or in part before they expire unutilized. Forecasts and projections of future income are

inherently subjective and therefore generally are given less weight, based on the extent to which the assumptions can be objectively verified based on historical experience.

Although historical trends utilized in our projections are objectively verifiable we assigned less weight to this positive evidence given the subjective nature of assumptions in

projections. Management reviewed negative evidence related to experience of credits and loss carryforwards expiring unutilized, and determined that although negative

evidence exists, it was not significant evidence, as the current loss carryforwards do not begin to expire until 2032 and therefore risk is minimal. After reviewing the weight of the

positive and negative evidence, management determined that the positive evidence was not sufficient enough to overcome the negative evidence of cumulative pretax losses

for the three year lookback to conclude that it is more likely than not that deferred tax assets of $3,179 are realizable. Therefore, a valuation allowance of $3,179 was recorded

against our gross deferred tax asset balance as of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively. .
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16. Leases

 

Lessee Accounting

 

We determine if an agreement is a lease at inception. We lease office space, data center colocation space, other assets, and office equipment under operating leases. We

lease data center equipment, including maintenance contracts and vehicles under finance leases.
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Operating leases are recorded as right-of-use (“ROU”) “ROU” assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet, excluding leases that are less than 12 months. ROU assets

represent our right to use the leased asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent our obligation to make lease payments. Operating lease ROU assets and liabilities are

recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. As most of our leases do not provide an implicit rate, we use our

estimated incremental borrowing rate at the commencement date to determine the present value of lease payments. The operating lease ROU assets also include any lease

payments made and exclude lease incentives. The Company’s lease agreements do not contain any variable lease payments, material residual value guarantees or any restrictive

covenants. Our lease terms may include options, at our sole discretion, to extend or terminate the lease. At the adoption date of ASC Topic 842, the Company was reasonably

certain that we would exercise our option to renew our corporate office building operating lease. Lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

We currently lease office space in Tempe, Arizona under a non-cancelable operating lease agreement that expires in 2025. On August 9, 2023, in connection with the sale

of our corporate office building and land, we entered into a lease agreement to leaseback the property. The operating lease agreement has an initial term of eighteen full

calendar months, with an option to terminate the lease on the last day of the twelfth full calendar month with a sixty-day notice. The operating lease agreement includes fixed

fees for property tax, insurance, and common area maintenance (CAM). We account for the lease components and non-lease components such as fixed fee property tax and

insurance charges as a single lease component. The CAM charges are considered a separate non-lease component of the lease agreement and are excluded from the

measurement of the lease liability.We utilized our incremental borrowing rate of 6.58% to determine the present value of lease payments to determine our lease liability. Rental

expense for the three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 was approximately $40 and $0, respectively and for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022

was $40 and $0, respectively.

 

We currently lease office space in Reston, Virginia under a non-cancelable operating lease agreement that expires in 2025. The operating lease contains customary

escalation clauses. Rental expense for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022 was approximately $10 and $12, respectively $13 and for the six nine

months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022 was $14$26 and $24, $37, respectively.

 

We leased office space in La Jolla, California under a non-cancelable operating lease agreement that expired on December 31, 2022.   The operating lease contained

customary escalation clauses. Rental expense for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022 was approximately $0 and $90, respectively and for the

six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022 was $0 and $180, $269, respectively.

 

We currently lease office space in San Diego, California under a non-cancelable operating lease agreement that expires in 2023. Rental expense for the three months

ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022 was approximately $21 and $0, respectively and for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022 was

$42$63 and $0, respectively.

 

We currently lease office space in Overland Park, Kansas under a non-cancelable operating lease agreement that expires in 2027. The operating lease contains customary

escalation clauses. Rental expense for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022 was approximately $45$55 and $0, respectively and for the six nine

months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022 was $90$144 and $0, respectively.
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We currently lease other assets under multiple operating leases. The leases expire on various dates through 2027 and the interest rates range from 2.81% 3% to 15.74%.

The expense is included in cost of product expenses and totaled approximately $20$23 and $19$21 for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022,

respectively and for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022 was $41$64 and $38, $58, respectively.

 

We currently lease data center colocation space in Grand Rapids, Michigan, Las Vegas, Nevada, Dallas, Texas and Lenexa, Kansas, under non-cancelable operating lease

agreements that expire in 2024. Rental expense for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022 was approximately $112$83 and $33, $36, respectively

and for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022 was $174$257 and $71, $107, respectively.
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We have lease agreements with lease and non-lease components, and we account for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease component. Our lease

agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants.   The Company leases equipment and support under finance lease

agreements which extends through 2026. The Company also leases two vehicles under financing agreements that ended in 2022. The outstanding balance for finance leases was

$136$117 and $193 as of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively. The Company recorded assets classified as property and equipment under

finance lease obligations of $486 and $486 as of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively. . Related accumulated depreciation totaled $303$319 and

$190 as of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively. The $40 in support contracts were classified as a prepaid expense and are being amortized over

the service period of three years. One support contract expired in January 2021 and the other expires in June 2024. Amortization expense is included in general and

administrative expenses and totaled $1 and $1 for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively and for the six nine months ended June 30,

2023September 30, 2023 and 2022 was $2 and $2, respectively.$4. The interest rates on the finance lease obligations range from 1.37% and 15.74% and interest expense was $1

and $2 for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively and for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022 was

$2$3 and $4, $6, respectively.
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The maturity of operating leases and finance lease liabilities as of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, are as follows:

 

Year ending December 31,
 

Operating

Leases
 

Finance Leases
   

Operating

Leases
   

Finance Leases
 

2023 remaining   $ 244   $ 36     $ 201   $ 19  

2024   319   77     601   77  

2025   181   21     205   21  

2026   179   3     179   3  

2027     134       -       134       -  

Total minimum lease payments   1,057   137     1,320   120  

Less: amount representing interest     (69 )     (1 )     (78 )     (3 )
Present value of minimum lease payments   $ 988     $ 136     $ 1,242     $ 117  

 

Lease term and discount rate

 

June September

30,

2023

 

Weighted-average remaining lease term (years)      

Operating leases     3.52.7 

Finance leases     1.81.6 

Weighted-average discount rate        

Operating leases     4.14.8%

Finance leases     2.22.3%
 

 
Six Months

Ended

June 30, 2023

   

Nine Months

Ended

September 30,

2023
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Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:            

Operating cash flows from operating leases   $ 288     $ 470  

Operating cash flows from finance leases   4     5  

Financing cash flows from finance leases   (271 )   (2,143 )
 

17. Commitments and Contingencies

Annual Employee Bonus Plan Accrual

We utilize incentive bonuses to reward performance achievements, which provides potential annual cash bonus awards to Company employees, including Named

Executive Officers (“NEOs”). Under the Bonus Plan, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) has established a bonus pool of $800,

for our NEOs and executive management team for the year ending December 31, 2023. The Board established a bonus pool of $240 for our non-executive employees, for the

year ending December 31, 2023. Participants will be eligible to receive cash bonus awards based upon annual performance targets established by the Compensation Committee

for the year ending December 31, 2023, relating to one or more of the following performance targets; annual revenue, Adjusted EBITDA, cash balance and our stock price

measured at the end of the Company’s fiscal year. Awards will be paid on a tiered scale based upon actual performance as a percentage of the performance targets with a floor

and cap. Payments for individual performance targets met or exceeded are payable, whether or not all performance targets are met, consistent with the weighted amounts for

each performance target within the bonus pools. Bonus awards for NEOs and executive management will be weighted 30% on annual revenue, 30% on Adjusted EBITDA, 30% on

cash balance, and 10% on the Company’s stock price. No bonus will be awarded for any performance target for which actual performance is less than 90% of target. At 90% or

greater actual performance relative to the target, 50% of the weighted bonus amount apportioned for the performance target is payable. From 90% to 100% actual performance

relative to the target, the remaining 50% of the weighted bonus amount is awarded pro rata with the percentage of actual performance exceeding 90% of target (i.e., each 1%

excess over 90% of performance target equals 5% of the weighted bonus amount payable). If actual performance reaches 110% of performance target or greater for any

individual performance target, then an additional 10% of the amount apportioned to that performance target will be payable as an additional bonus. Based on our financial

performance as of September 30, 2023, management determined that the achievement of 90% of the annual revenue, Adjusted EBITDA and cash balance performance targets

are probable at this time. Based on management’s estimate, the Company recorded a $488 employee bonus plan accrual, which is included in accrued expenses  in the

accompanying consolidated balance sheet at September 30, 2023. It is reasonably possible that one or multiple of the performance targets may be achieved at higher than 90%

and additional accruals may be necessary.
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Legal Proceedings

 

In the ordinary course of business, the Company may be involved in a variety of claims, lawsuits, investigations, and other proceedings, including patent infringement

claims, employment litigation, regulatory compliance matters, and contractual disputes, that can arise in the normal course of the Company’sCompany's operations. The

Company recognizes a provision when management believes information available prior to the issuance of the financial statements indicates it is probable a loss has been

incurred as of the date of the financial statements and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. The Company adjusts the amount of the provision to reflect the impact

of negotiations, settlements, rulings, advice of legal counsel, and other information and events pertaining to a particular case. As of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, the

Company does not have a recorded liability for estimated losses. Legal costs are expensed as incurred.
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18. Segment Reporting

 

Our chief operating decision maker (who is our Chief Executive Officer) reviews our financial information presented on an operating segment basis for purposes of

allocating resources and evaluating our financial performance. Following the merger with NetSapiens, Inc., the Company reorganized into two operating segments, a software

solutions operating segment and a cloud telecommunications services operating segment. The cloud telecommunications services segment generates revenue from selling

cloud telecommunication services, products, and other internet services. The software solutions segment generates revenue from selling perpetual software licenses and

software subscriptions, subscription maintenance and support, and professional services. The Company has two reportable operating segments, which consist of cloud

telecommunications services and software solutions. Segment revenue, income/(loss) from operations, other income/(expense) and income/(loss) before income tax provision

are as follows (in thousands):

 

 
Three Months Ended June 30,

 
Six Months Ended June 30,

   
Three Months Ended September

30,
 

Nine Months Ended September

30,
 

  2023   2022   2023   2022     2023     2022     2023     2022  

Revenue:                                    
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Cloud

telecommunications

services

 

$ 8,740

 

$ 5,248

 

$ 17,123

 

$ 10,138

   

$ 9,183

 

$ 5,233

 

$ 26,306

 

$ 15,371

 

Software solutions     3,930     3,598     8,038     6,866       4,691       3,875       12,729       10,741  

Consolidated

revenue
   

12,670
   

8,846
   

25,161
   

17,004
     

13,874
     

9,108
     

39,035
     

26,112
 

                                   

Loss from
operations:

                 

Income/(loss) from

operations:
                 

Cloud

telecommunications

services

 

(207 )

 

(543 )

 

(1,386 )

 

(1,597 )

 

73

 

(639 )

 

(1,312 )

 

(2,236 )
Software solutions     (310 )     (309 )     (705 )     (648 )     291       95       (415 )     (553 )

Total operating

loss
   

(517 )
   

(852 )
   

(2,091 )
   

(2,245 )
Total operating

income/(loss)
   

364
     

(544 )
   

(1,727 )
   

(2,789 )
Other
income/(expense),
net:

                                   

Cloud

telecommunications

services

 

(26 )

 

(17 )

 

(65 )

 

(35 )

 

1,425

 

(17 )

 

1,360

 

(52 )
Software solutions     22     (109 )     77     (119 )     (52 )     (167 )     25       (286 )

Total other

income/(expense),

net

   

(4 )

   

(126 )

   

12
   

(154 )

   

1,373
     

(184 )

   

1,385
     

(338 )
Loss before
income tax
provision:

                 

Income/(loss) before

income tax

provision:

                 

Cloud

telecommunications

services

 

(233 )

 

(560 )

 

(1,451 )

 

(1,632 )

 

1,498

 

(656 )

 

48

 

(2,288 )
Software solutions     (288 )     (418 )     (628 )     (767 )     239       (72 )     (390 )     (839 )

Loss before
income tax
provision

 
$ (521 )

 
$ (978 )

 
$ (2,079 )

 
$ (2,399 )

Income/(loss) before

income tax provision
 

$ 1,737
   

$ (728 )
 
$ (342 )

 
$ (3,127 )

 

Depreciation and amortization for the cloud telecommunications services segment was $392$381 and $115 for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30,

2023 and 2022, respectively and $794$1,176 and $230$344 for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Depreciation and

amortization for the software solutions segment was $507$506 and $505$509 for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively and

$1,014$1,520 and $1,009$1,518 for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

 

Interest income for the cloud telecommunications services segment was $0 for the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022,

respectively.2022. Interest income for the software solutions segment was $0 for the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022,

respectively.2022.
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Interest expense for the cloud telecommunications services segment was $33$36 and $19 for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022,

respectively and $75$111 and $38$57 for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.   Interest expense for the software solutions

segment was $0 for the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.2022. 

     

The Company operates in two geographic areas, the United States and international. Revenue by geography is based on the location of the customer from which the

revenue is earned. Revenue by geographic location is as follows (in thousands):

 

    Three Months Ended June 30,     Six Months Ended June 30,  

    2023     2022     2023     2022  

United States   $ 12,011    $ 8,592    $ 24,122    $ 16,438 

International     659      254      1,039      566 

Total revenue   $ 12,670    $ 8,846    $ 25,161    $ 17,004 

19. Subsequent Events

On May 16, 2023, the Company entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement with Nectar Equities, LLC, an independent third-party, for the sale of our corporate

headquarters land and building. The sale closed on August 9, 2023, for a purchase price of $4.0 million. The proceeds from the sale were used to repay the outstanding note

payable with Bank of America, N.A. of $1.8 million, closing costs and commissions of approximately $223, generating approximately $2.0 million in net proceeds from the sale. 

On August 9, 2023, in connection with the sale of the land and building, we entered into a lease agreement to leaseback the property. The operating lease agreement has

an initial term of eighteen full calendar months, with an option to terminate the initial term on the last day of the twelfth full calendar month with a sixty-day notice. Rent

expense is $19 per month, plus real estate taxes, insurance premiums on the property, and maintenance expenses over the lease term.

    Three Months Ended September 30,     Nine Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     2023     2022  

United States   $ 12,862    $ 8,661    $ 36,984    $ 25,116 

International     1,012      447      2,051      996 

Total revenue   $ 13,874    $ 9,108    $ 39,035    $ 26,112 
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

 

This section and other parts of this Form 10-Q contain forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Forward-looking statements can be identified by words such as

“anticipates,” “expects,” “believes,” “plans,” “predicts,” and similar terms. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and our Company’s actual results may

differ significantly from the results discussed in the forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in Part II, Item

1A, “Risk Factors,” which are incorporated herein by reference. The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December

31, 2022 (the “2020 Form 10-K”) filed with the SEC and the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto included in the 2023 Form 10-Qs and elsewhere in this Form

10-Q. We assume no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking statements for any reason, except as required by law.

 

OVERVIEW

 

Crexendo, Inc. is an award-winning premier provider of cloud communication platform and services, video collaboration and managed IT services designed to provide

enterprise-class cloud solutions to any size business. Our solutions currently support over three million end users globally. By providing a variety of comprehensive and scalable

solutions, we are able to cater to businesses of all sizes on a monthly subscription basis without the need for expensive capital investments, regardless of where their business is

in its lifecycle. Our products and services can be categorized in the following offerings:

 

Cloud Telecommunications Services – Our cloud telecommunications services transmit calls using IP or cloud technology, which converts voice signals into digital data

packets for transmission over the Internet or cloud. Each of our calling plans provides a number of basic features typically offered by traditional telephone service providers,

plus a wide range of enhanced features that we believe offer an attractive value proposition to our customers. This platform enables a user, via a single “identity” or telephone

number, to access and utilize services and features regardless of how the user is connected to the Internet or cloud, whether it’s from a desktop device or an application on a

mobile device.

 

We generate recurring revenue from our cloud telecommunications services, broadband Internet services, managed IT services, software license sales, and infrastructure

as a service. Our cloud telecommunications contracts typically have a thirty-six to sixty month term. We may also charge activation and flash fees and the Company generally
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allocates a portion of the activation fees to the desktop devices, which is recognized at the time of the installation or customer acceptance, and a portion to the service, which is

recognized over the contract term using the straight-line method. We also charge other various contracted and non-contracted fees.

 

We generate product revenue, equipment financing revenue, and device as a service revenue from the sale and lease of our cloud telecommunications equipment.

Revenues from the sale of equipment, including those from sales-type leases, are recognized at the time of sale or at the inception of the lease, as appropriate.

 

Software Solutions – Our software solutions segment derives revenues from three primary sources: software licenses, software maintenance support and professional

services. Software and services may be sold separately or in bundled packages. Generally, contracts with customers contain multiple performance obligations, consisting of

software and services. For bundled packages, the Company accounts for individual products and services separately if they are distinct – i.e. if a product or service is separately

identifiable from other items in the bundled package and if a customer can benefit from it on its own or with other resources that are readily available to the customer. The

consideration is allocated between separate products and services in a bundle based on their relative stand-alone selling prices. The stand-alone selling prices are determined

based on the prices at which the Company separately sells the software licenses and professional services.  For items that are not sold separately (e.g. additional features) the

Company estimates stand-alone selling prices using the adjusted market assessment approach. When we provide a free trial period, we do not begin to recognize recurring

revenue until the trial period has ended and the customer has been billed for the services.

 

We generate software license revenue from the sale of perpetual software licenses, term-based software licenses that expire, and Software-as-a-Service (“SaaS” ("SaaS")

based software which are referred to as subscription arrangements. The Company does not recognize software revenue related to the renewal of subscription software licenses

earlier than the beginning of the subscription period.

 

We generate subscription and maintenance support revenue from customer support and other supportive services. The Company offers warranties on its products. The

warranty period for our licensed software is generally 90 days. Certain of the Company’sCompany's warranties are considered to be assurance-type in nature and do not cover

anything beyond ensuring that the product is functioning as intended. Based on the guidance in ASC 606, assurance-type warranties do not represent separate performance

obligations. The Company also sells separately-priced maintenance service contracts, which qualify as service-type warranties and represent separate performance obligations.

The Company does not typically allow and has no history of accepting material product returns.  Customer support includes software updates on a when-and-if-available basis,

telephone support, integrated web-based support and bug fixes or patches. Subscription and maintenance support revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the customer

support agreement, which is typically one year.
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We generate professional services and other revenue from consulting, technical support, resident engineer services, design services and installation services. Revenue

for professional services and other is recognized when the performance obligation is complete and the customer has accepted the performance obligation.

 

OUR SERVICES AND PRODUCTS

 

Our solutions currently support over three million end users globally and solution was recently recognized as the fastest growing UCaaS platform in the United States. By

providing a variety of comprehensive and scalable solutions, we are able to cater to businesses of all sizes on a monthly subscription basis without the need for expensive capital

investments, regardless of where their business is in its lifecycle. Our products and services can be categorized in the following offerings:

 

Cloud Telecommunications Services – Our cloud telecommunications service offering includes hardware, software, and unified ng IP or cloud technology over any

high-speed Internet connection. These services are rendered through a variety of devices and communication solutions for businesses using user interfaces such as a Crexendo

branded desktop phones and/or mobile and desktop applications. Some examples of mobile devices are Android cell phones, iPhones, iPads or Android tablets. These services

enable our customers to seamlessly communicate with others through phone calls that originate/terminate on our network or PSTN networks. Our cloud telecommunications

services are powered by our proprietary implementation of standards based Web and VoIP cloud technologies. Our services use our highly scalable complex infrastructure that

we build and manage based on industry standard best practices to achieve greater efficiencies, better quality of service (QoS) and customer satisfaction. Our infrastructure

comprises of compute, storage, network technologies, 3rd party products and vendor relationships. We also develop end user portals for account management, license

management, billing and customer support and adopt other cloud technologies through our partnerships.

 

Crexendo’s cloud telecommunication service offers a wide variety of essential and advanced features for businesses of all sizes.  Many of these features included in the

service offering are:

 

 
· Business Productivity Features such as dial-by extension and name, transfer, conference, call recording, Unlimited calling to anywhere in the US and

Canada, International calling, Toll free (Inbound and Outbound)
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· Individual Productivity Features such as Caller ID, Call Waiting, Last Call Return, Call Recording, Music/Message-On-Hold, Voicemail, Unified Messaging, Hot-

Desking

 
· Group Productivity Features such as Call Park, Call Pickup, Interactive Voice Response (IVR), Individual and Universal Paging, Corporate Directory, Multi-

Party Conferencing, Group Mailboxes, Web and mobile devices based collaboration applications

 
· Call Center Features such as Automated Call Distribution (ACD), Call Monitor, Whisper and Barge, Automatic Call Recording, One way call recording,

Analytics

  · Advanced Unified Communication Features such as Find-Me-Follow-Me, Sequential Ring and Simultaneous Ring, Voicemail transcription

 
· Mobile Features such as extension dialing, transfer and conference and seamless hand-off from WiFi to/from 3G and 4G, LTE, as well as other data services.

These features are also available on CrexMo, an intelligent mobile application for iPhones and Android smartphones, as well as iPads and Android tablets

  · Traditional PBX Features such as Busy Lamp Fields, System Hold. 16-48 Port density Analog Devices

  · Expanded Desktop Device Selection such as Entry Level Phone, Executive Desktop, DECT Phone for roaming users

 
· Advanced Faxing solution such as Cloud Fax (cFax) allowing customers to send and receive Faxes from their Email Clients, Mobile Phones and Desktops

without having to use a Fax Machine simply by attaching a file

  · Web based online portal to administer, manage and provision the system.

  · Asynchronous communication tools like SMS/MMS, chat and document sharing to keep in pace with emerging communication trends.

 

Many of these services are included in our basic offering to our customers for a monthly recurring fee and do not require a capital expense. Some of the advanced

features such as Automatic Call Recording and Call Center Features require additional monthly fees. Crexendo continues to invest and develop its technology and CPaaS

offerings to make them more competitive and profitable.
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Software Solutions – Our software solutions offering provides a comprehensive suite of unified communications (UC), video conferencing, collaboration & contact

center solutions to over 215 service providers, servicing over three million users around the globe.solutions. Our platform enables service providers to customize packages with

unprecedented levels of flexibility, profitability, and ease of use.

 

Our software solutions offering are as follows:

 

 

· SNAPsolution® - a comprehensive, IP-based platform that provides a broad suite of UC services including hosted Private Branch Exchange (PBX), auto-

attendant, call center, conferencing, and mobility. The platform includes a broad range of feature-sets, custom-built to provide unprecedented levels of

flexibility, making the solution competitive with the market’s leading players. SNAPsolution includes a full suite of Voice over Internet Protocol (VoIP)/UC

features with one low cost universal license, as opposed to pricing each feature individually. The Company licenses its platform based on concurrent

sessions, not per seat/per feature. This allows service providers to oversubscribe their networks, driving down the cost per seat as volume increases. As the

service provider increases their customer base, they only have to ensure they have sufficient concurrent call licenses to support users across the network.

  · SNAPaccel – a Software-as-a-Service (“SaaS” ("SaaS") based software license referred to as subscription arrangements.

 

· Subscription Maintenance and Support - The Company also sells separately-priced maintenance service contracts, which qualify as service-type warranties

and represent separate performance obligations and customer support. Customer support includes software updates on a when-and-if-available basis,

telephone support, integrated web-based support and bug fixes or patches.

 
· Professional Services and Other - The Company’sCompany's professional services include consulting, technical support, resident engineer services, design

services and installation services.

 

Results of Operations

 

The following discussion of financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our condensed consolidated financial statements and notes

thereto and other financial information included elsewhere in this Form 10-Q.

 

Results of Consolidated Operations (in thousands, except for per share amounts):

 
Three Months Ended June 30,

 
Six Months Ended June 30,

   
Three Months Ended September

30,
 

Nine Months Ended September

30,
 

  2023   2022   2023   2022     2023     2022     2023     2022  

Service revenue   $ 7,308   $ 4,556   $ 14,466   $ 8,954     $ 7,517   $ 4,473   $ 21,983   $ 13,427  
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Software
solutions revenue

 
3,930

 
3,598

 
8,038

 
6,866

   
4,691

 
3,875

 
12,729

 
10,741

 

Product revenue     1,432     692     2,657     1,184       1,666       760       4,323       1,944  

Total revenue   $ 12,670   $ 8,846   $ 25,161   $ 17,004     $ 13,874   $ 9,108   $ 39,035   $ 26,112  

Loss before
income taxes

 
(521 )

 
(978 )

 
(2,079 )

 
(2,399 )

Income/(loss) before

income taxes
 

1,737
 

(728 )
 

(342 )
 

(3,127 )
Income tax
benefit/(provision)

 
(24 )

 
82

 
(48 )

 
283

   
(33 )

 
32

 
(81 )

 
315

 

Net loss   (545 )   (896 )   (2,127 )   (2,116 )
Net income/(loss)   1,704   (696 )   (423 )   (2,812 )
Basic earnings per
share

 
$ (0.02 )

 
$ (0.04 )

 
$ (0.08 )

 
$ (0.09 )

 
$ 0.07

 
$ (0.03 )

 
$ (0.02 )

 
$ (0.13 )

Diluted earnings
per share

 
$ (0.02 )

 
$ (0.04 )

 
$ (0.08 )

 
$ (0.09 )

 
$ 0.06

 
$ (0.03 )

 
$ (0.02 )

 
$ (0.13 )

 

Three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 compared to three months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022

 

Total Revenue

 

Total revenue consists of service revenue, software solutions revenue and product revenue. The following table reflects our total revenue for the three months ended

June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the three months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022:

   

    Three Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Total revenue   $ 12,670    $ 8,846    $ 3,824      43%

    Three Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  

Total revenue   $ 13,874    $ 9,108    $ 4,766      52%
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The increase in total revenue is due to an increase in service revenue of $2,752, $3,044, an increase in product revenue of $740, $906, and an increase in software solutions

revenue of $332.$816. Our November 1, 2022 acquisition of Allegiant Networks contributed $2,580$2,651 of the increase in service revenue and $642$717 of the increase in

product revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023.

 

Loss Income/(Loss) Before Income Taxes

 

The following table reflects our loss income/(loss) before income taxes for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the three months

ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022:

 

    Three Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Loss before income taxes   $ (521)   $ (978)   $ 457      47%

    Three Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  
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Income/(loss) before income taxes   $ 1,737    $ (728)   $ 2,465      339%

 

The decrease in change from a loss before income taxes to income before income taxes is primarily duerelated to an increase in revenue of $3,824, $4,766, of which our

recent acquisition of Allegiant Networks contributed $3,222$3,368 of the increase in revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, a decreasean

increase in other expenseincome of $122, $1,557 primarily related to the gain on the sale of our corporate headquarters located in Tempe, Arizona of $1,459, offset by an

increase in operating expenses of $3,489.$3,858. The increase in operating expenses is primarily related to $3,349$3,131 of additional operating expenses contributed by our

November 1, 2022 acquisition of Allegiant Networks.

 

Income Tax Benefit/(Provision)

 

The following table reflects our income tax benefit/(provision) benefit for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the three months ended

June 30, 2022September 30, 2022:

 

    Three Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Income tax benefit/(provision)   $ (24)   $ 82    $ (106)     -129%

    Three Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  

Income tax benefit/(provision)   $ (33)   $ 32    $ (65)     -203%

 

We had an income tax provision of $24$(33) for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 compared to an income tax benefit of $82$32 for the three

months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022. We had a loss income/(loss) before income tax for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022 of

$(521) $1,737 and $(896) $(728), respectively.

 

Six Nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 compared to six nine months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022

 

Total Revenue

 

Total revenue consists of service revenue, software solutions revenue and product revenue. The following table reflects our service revenue for the six nine months

ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the six nine months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022:

 

    Six Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Total revenue   $ 25,161    $ 17,004    $ 8,157      48%

    Nine Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  

Total revenue   $ 39,035    $ 26,112    $ 12,923      49%

 

The increase in total revenue is due to an increase in service revenue of $5,512, $8,556, an increase in product revenue of $1,473, $2,379, and an increase in software

solutions revenue of $1,172.$1,988.  Our November 1, 2022 acquisition of Allegiant Networks contributed $5,156$7,807 of the increase in service revenue and $1,168$1,885 of the

increase in product revenue for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023.

 

Loss Before Income Taxes

 

The following table reflects our loss before income taxes for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the six nine months ended June

30, 2022September 30, 2022:
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    Six Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Loss before income taxes   $ (2,079)   $ (2,399)   $ 320      13%

    Nine Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  

Loss before income taxes   $ (342)   $ (3,127)   $ 2,785      89%
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The decrease in loss before income taxes is primarily duerelated to an increase in revenue of $8,157, $12,923, of which our recent acquisition of Allegiant Networks

contributed $6,324$9,692 of the increase in revenue for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, a decreasean increase in other expenseincome of

$154, $1,723 primarily related to the gain on the sale of our corporate headquarters located in Tempe, Arizona of $1,459, offset by an increase in operating expenses of

$8,003.$11,861. The increase in operating expenses is primarily related to $6,722$9,853 of additional operating expenses contributed by our November 1, 2022 acquisition of

Allegiant Networks.

 

Income Tax Benefit/(Provision) Benefit

 

The following table reflects our income tax benefit/(provision) benefit for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the six nine months

ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022:

  

    Six Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Income tax benefit/(provision)   $ (48)   $ 283    $ (331)     -117%

    Nine Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  

Income tax benefit/(provision)   $ (81)   $ 315    $ (396)     -126%

 

We had an income tax provision of $48$(81) for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 compared to an income tax benefit of $283$315 for the

six nine months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022. We had a loss before income tax for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022 of

$(2,079) $(342) and $(2,399) $(3,127), respectively.

 

Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures

 

                To evaluate our business, we consider and use non-generally accepted accounting principles (“Non-GAAP”) net income and Adjusted EBITDA as a supplemental measure

of operating performance. These measures include the same adjustments that management takes into account when it reviews and assesses operating performance on a

period-to-period basis. We consider Non-GAAP net income to be an important indicator of overall business performance because it allows us to evaluate results without the

effects of share-based compensation, acquisition related expenses, changes in fair value of contingent consideration, amortization of intangibles, and goodwill and long-lived

asset impairment. We define EBITDA as U.S. GAAP net income/(loss) before interest expense, interest income and other expense/(income), goodwill and long-lived asset

impairments, provision/(benefit) for income taxes, and depreciation and amortization. We believe EBITDA provides a useful metric to investors to compare us with other

companies within our industry and across industries. We define Adjusted EBITDA as EBITDA adjusted for acquisition related expenses, changes in fair value of contingent

consideration and share-based compensation. We use Adjusted EBITDA as a supplemental measure to review and assess operating performance. We also believe use of

Adjusted EBITDA facilitates investors’ use of operating performance comparisons from period to period, as well as across companies.

 

                In our August 10, 2023November 9, 2023 earnings press release, as furnished on Form 8-K, we included Non-GAAP net income, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA. The terms

Non-GAAP net income, EBITDA, and Adjusted EBITDA are not defined under U.S. GAAP, and are not measures of operating income, operating performance or liquidity presented

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us

©2023 Refi nitiv.  Al l  rights reserved. Republ ication or redistribution of Refi nitiv content, including
by fram ing or sim i lar m eans, is prohibi ted
w ithout the prior w ri tten consent of Refi nitiv.  'Refi nitiv' and the Refi nitiv logo  are
registered tradem arks of Refi nitiv and i ts affi l iated
com panies.

46/69

in analytical tools, and when assessing our operating performance, Non-GAAP net income, EBITDA, and Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered in isolation, or as a substitute

for net income/(loss) or other consolidated income statement data prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Some of these limitations include, but are not limited to:

 

  · EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect our cash expenditures or future requirements for capital expenditures or contractual commitments;

  · they do not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;

  · they do not reflect the interest expense, or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments, on our debt that we may incur;

  · they do not reflect income taxes or the cash requirements for any tax payments;

 
· although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized will be replaced sometime in the future, and

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect any cash requirements for such replacements;

 
· while share-based compensation is a component of operating expense, the impact on our financial statements compared to other companies can vary

significantly due to such factors as the assumed life of the options and the assumed volatility of our common stock; and

  · other companies may calculate EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA differently than we do, limiting their usefulness as comparative measures.
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We compensate for these limitations by relying primarily on our U.S. GAAP results and using Non-GAAP net income, EBITDA, and Adjusted EBITDA only as supplemental

support for management’s analysis of business performance. Non-GAAP net income, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are calculated as follows for the periods presented.

 

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures

 

In accordance with the requirements of Regulation G issued by the SEC, we are presenting the most directly comparable U.S. GAAP financial measures and reconciling

the unaudited Non-GAAP financial metrics to the comparable U.S. GAAP measures.

 

Reconciliation of U.S. GAAP Net Loss to Non-GAAP Net Income

(Unaudited, in thousands, except for per share and share data)

 

 
Three Months Ended June 30,

 
Six Months Ended June 30,

   
Three Months Ended September

30,
 

Nine Months Ended September 30,
 

  2023   2022   2023   2022     2023     2022     2023     2022  

U.S. GAAP
net loss

 
$ (545 )

 
$ (896 )

 
$ (2,127 )

 
$ (2,116 )

U.S. GAAP net

income/(loss)
 

$ 1,704
 

$ (696 )
 

$ (423 )
 

$ (2,812 )
Share-based

compensation
 

855
 

858
 

2,269
 

1,911
   

843
 

851
 

3,112
 

2,762
 

Acquisition

related

expenses

 

-

 

-

 

1

 

23

   

-

 

8

 

1

 

31

 

Amortization

of intangible

assets

   

792
     

550
     

1,585
     

1,099
     

793
     

550
     

2,377
     

1,649
 

Non-GAAP
net income

  $ 1,102   $ 512   $ 1,728   $ 917     $ 3,340
   $ 713

    $ 5,067
    $ 1,630

 

                                   

Non-GAAP
earnings per
common
share:

                                   

Basic   $ 0.04   $ 0.02   $ 0.07   $ 0.04     $ 0.13   $ 0.03   $ 0.20   $ 0.07  

Diluted   $ 0.04   $ 0.02   $ 0.06   $ 0.04     $ 0.12   $ 0.03   $ 0.18   $ 0.06  
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Weighted-
average
common
shares
outstanding:

                                   

Basic   25,972,628   22,456,420   25,853,998   22,347,510     25,995,507   22,620,703   25,901,686   22,439,575  

Diluted   27,401,597   25,278,052   27,467,234   25,582,196     27,682,764   25,285,848   27,544,993   25,491,062  

 

Reconciliation of U.S. GAAP Net Loss to EBITDA to Adjusted EBITDA

(Unaudited, in thousands)

 

 
Three Months Ended June 30,

 
Six Months Ended June 30,

   
Three Months Ended September

30,
 

Nine Months Ended September 30,
 

  2023   2022   2023   2022     2023     2022     2023     2022  

U.S. GAAP net
loss

 
$ (545 )

 
$ (896 )

 
$ (2,127 )

 
$ (2,116 )

U.S. GAAP net

income/(loss)
 

$ 1,704
 

$ (696 )
 

$ (423 )
 

$ (2,812 )
Depreciation

and amortization
 

900
 

620
 

1,808
 

1,239
   

887
 

623
 

2,695
 

1,862
 

Interest

expense
 

33
 

19
 

75
 

38
   

36
 

19
 

111
 

57
 

Interest and

other

expense/(income)

 

(29 )

 

107

 

(87 )

 

116

 

Gain on the sale

of property and

equipment

 

(1,459 )

 

-

 

(1,459 )

 

-

 

Other, net   50   165   (37 )   281  

Income tax

provision/(benefit)
   

24
   

(82 )
   

48
   

(283 )
   

33
     

(32 )
   

81
     

(315 )
EBITDA   383   (232 )   (283 )   (1,006 )   1,251   79   968   (927 )
Acquisition related

expenses
 

-
 

-
 

1
 

23
   

-
 

8
 

1
 

31
 

Share-based

compensation
   

855
     

858
     

2,269
     

1,911
     

843
     

851
     

3,112
     

2,762
 

Adjusted
EBITDA

  $ 1,238   $ 626   $ 1,987   $ 928     $ 2,094
   $ 938

    $ 4,081
    $ 1,866

 

    

Critical Accounting Policies and EstimatesCRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

 

In preparing our financial statements, we make estimates, assumptions and judgments that can have a significant impact on our revenue, operating income or loss and

net income or loss, as well as on the value of certain assets and liabilities on our balance sheet.  Please see Note 1 of Part I, Item 1 of this quarterly report on Form 10-Q for a

summary of significant accounting policies. In addition, the estimates, assumptions and judgments involved in our accounting policies described in critical accounting policies

and estimates are disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022.  

 

Segment Operating Results

 

The Company has two operating segments, which consist of Cloud Telecommunications Services and Software Solutions. The information below is organized in accordance

with our two reportable segments. Segment operating income is equal to segment net revenue less segment cost of service revenue, cost of software solution revenue, cost of

product revenue, sales and marketing, research and development, and general and administrative expenses.
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Operating Results of our Cloud Telecommunications Services Segment (in thousands):

    Three Months Ended June 30,     Six Months Ended June 30,  

Cloud Telecommunications Services   2023     2022     2023     2022  

Service revenue   $ 7,308    $ 4,556    $ 14,466    $ 8,954 

Product revenue     1,432      692      2,657      1,184 

Total revenue   $ 8,740    $ 5,248    $ 17,123    $ 10,138 

Operating expenses:                                

Cost of service revenue   $ 3,095    $ 1,438    $ 6,139    $ 2,874 

Cost of product revenue     881      372      1,720      689 

Selling and marketing     2,504      1,678      5,100      3,259 

General and administrative     2,175      1,993      4,959      4,299 

Research and development     291      310      590      614 

Total operating expenses     8,946      5,791      18,508      11,735 

Operating loss     (206)     (543)     (1,385)     (1,597)

Other expense     (26)     (17)     (65)     (35)

Loss before tax benefit   $ (232)   $ (560)   $ (1,450)   $ (1,632)

    Three Months Ended September 30,     Nine Months Ended September 30,  

Cloud Telecommunications Services   2023     2022     2023     2022  

Service revenue   $ 7,517    $ 4,473    $ 21,983    $ 13,427 

Product revenue     1,666      760      4,323      1,944 

Total revenue   $ 9,183    $ 5,233    $ 26,306    $ 15,371 

Operating expenses:                                

Cost of service revenue   $ 3,173    $ 1,375    $ 9,312    $ 4,249 

Cost of product revenue     923      453      2,643      1,142 

Selling and marketing     2,467      1,704      7,567      4,963 

General and administrative     2,230      2,056      7,189      6,355 

Research and development     317      284      907      898 

Total operating expenses     9,110      5,872      27,618      17,607 

Operating income/(loss)     73      (639)     (1,312)     (2,236)

Other income/(expense)     1,425      (17)     1,360      (52)

Loss before tax benefit/(provision)   $ 1,498    $ (656)   $ 48    $ (2,288)

 

Three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 compared to three months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022

 

Service Revenue

 

Cloud telecommunications service revenue consists primarily of fees collected for cloud telecommunications services, professional services, interest from sales-type

leases, reselling broadband Internet services, managed IT service, administrative fees, and website hosting services. The following table reflects our service revenue for the three

months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the three months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022:

 

    Three Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Service revenue   $ 7,308    $ 4,556    $ 2,752      60%

    Three Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  

Service revenue   $ 7,517    $ 4,473    $ 3,044      68%
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The increase in service revenue is due to an increase in telecommunications services fees of $2,430, $2,468, an increase in one-time fees, commissions and other of

$219, $474, an increase in fees, commissions, and other, recognized over time of $64, $56, and an increase in sales-type lease interest of $39.$46. Our November 1, 2022

acquisition of Allegiant Networks, contributed $2,580$2,651 of the total increase in service revenue. A substantial portion of Cloud Telecommunications service revenue is

generated through thirty-six to sixty month service contracts.

 

Product Revenue

 

Product revenue consists primarily of fees collected from the sale of desktop phone devices, third-party equipment, and device as a service. The following table reflects

our product revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the three months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022:

 

    Three Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Product revenue   $ 1,432    $ 692    $ 740      107%

    Three Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  

Product revenue   $ 1,666    $ 760    $ 906      119%

 

Product revenue fluctuates from one period to the next based on timing of installations. Our typical customer installation is complete within 30-60 days. However, larger

enterprise customers can take multiple months, depending on size and the number of locations. Product revenue is recognized when products have been installed and services

commence. Additionally, product revenue can fluctuate due to the allocation of discounts or sales promotions across the performance obligations. The increase in product

revenue is primarily duerelated to additional product revenue of $642$717 contributed by our November 1, 2022 acquisition of Allegiant Networks during the three months

ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and an increase in organic product revenue of $98.$189.
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Backlog

 

Backlog represents the total contract value of all contracts signed, less revenue recognized from those contracts as of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022.

Backlog increased 21% 43%, or $6,300$13,051 to $35,752$43,114 as of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 as compared to $29,452$30,063 as of June 30, 2022September 30, 2022.

Below is a table which displays the Cloud Telecommunications segment revenue backlog as of April 1, 2023July 1, 2023 and 2022, and June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022,

which we expect to recognize as revenue within the next five yearsthirty-six to sixty months (in thousands):

 

Cloud Telecommunications backlog as of April 1, 2023   $ 33,679 

Cloud Telecommunications backlog as of June 30, 2023   $ 35,752 

         

Cloud Telecommunications backlog as of April 1, 2022   $ 29,973 

Cloud Telecommunications backlog as of June 30, 2022   $ 29,452 

Cloud Telecommunications backlog as of July 1, 2023   $ 35,752 

Cloud Telecommunications backlog as of September 30, 2023   $ 43,114 

         

Cloud Telecommunications backlog as of July 1, 2022   $ 29,452 

Cloud Telecommunications backlog as of September 30, 2022   $ 30,063 

 

Cost of Service Revenue
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Cost of service revenue consists primarily of fees we pay to third-party telecommunications carriers, broadband Internet providers, software providers, costs related to

installations, customer support salaries, and benefits,  bonuses, and share-based compensation. The following table reflects our cost of service revenue for the three months

ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the three months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022:

 

    Three Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Cost of service revenue   $ 3,095    $ 1,438    $ 1,657      115%

    Three Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  

Cost of service revenue   $ 3,173    $ 1,375    $ 1,798      131%
  

The increase in cost of service revenue was primarily duerelated to additional cost of service revenue of $1,609$1,595 contributed by our November 1, 2022 acquisition of

Allegiant Networks during the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023. Additionally, we had an increase in third-party telecommunications carrier costs of $112, a

$24$90 increase in salaries, benefits, bonuses, and benefitsshare-based compensation related to increases in headcount to assist with the migration of our customers to our

new VIP platform and the accrual of our annual employee bonuses, and an increase in other cost of service revenue of $24.$1.

 

Cost of Product Revenue

 

Cost of product revenue consists of the costs associated with desktop phone devices and third-party equipment. The following table reflects our cost of product

revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the three months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022:

 

    Three Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Cost of product revenue   $ 881    $ 372    $ 509      137%

    Three Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  

Cost of product revenue   $ 923    $ 453    $ 470      104%
 

The increase is primarily duerelated to an increase of $77$101 from our organic product revenue growth and additional cost of product revenue of $432$369 contributed by our

November 1, 2022 acquisition of Allegiant Networks during the six three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023.

 

Selling and Marketing

 

Selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of direct and channel sales representative salaries, benefits, bonuses, and benefits, share-based compensation, partner

channel commissions, amortization of costs to acquire contracts, travel expenses, lead generation services, trade shows, internal and third-party marketing costs, the

production of marketing materials, and sales support software. The following table reflects our selling and marketing expenses for the three months ended June 30,

2023September 30, 2023, compared to the three months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022:

 

    Three Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Selling and marketing   $ 2,504    $ 1,678    $ 826      49%

    Three Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  

Selling and marketing   $ 2,467    $ 1,704    $ 763      45%
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The increase in selling and marketing expense is primarily duerelated to additional selling and marketing expense of $688$622 contributed by our November 1, 2022

acquisition of Allegiant Networks during the three months ended June 30, 2023, September 30, 2023 and an increase in commission expense of $143$146 directly related to the

increase in revenue, offset by a decrease in other selling and marketing expenses of $5.
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General and administrative expenses consist of salaries, benefits, bonuses, and stock share-based compensation for executives, administrative personnel, legal, rent,

equipment, accounting and other professional services, investor relations, depreciation, amortization of intangibles, and other administrative corporate expenses. The following

table reflects our general and administrative expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the three months ended June 30,

2022September 30, 2022:

 

    Three Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

General and administrative   $ 2,175    $ 1,993    $ 182      9%

    Three Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  

General and administrative   $ 2,230    $ 2,056    $ 174      8%

 

The increase in general and administrative expenses is primarily duerelated to additional general and administrative expense of $620$546 contributed by our

November 1, 2022 acquisition of Allegiant Networks during the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, offset by a decrease in administrative salaries,

wagesbenefits, bonuses, and benefitsshare-based compensation of $381$314 related to a decrease in share-based compensation and the reclassification of salary, wages, and

benefits to the Software Solutions segment, a decreaseoffset by an increase in corporate insuranceexpenses for the accrual of $16annual employee bonuses, and a decrease in

other general and administrative expenses of $41.$58.

 

Research and Development

 

Research and development expenses primarily consist of salaries, benefits, bonuses, and benefits, share-based compensation, and outsourced engineering services

related to the development of new cloud telecommunications features and products. The following table reflects our research and development expenses for the three months

ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the three months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022:

 

    Three Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Research and development   $ 291    $ 310    $ (19)     -6%

    Three Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  

Research and development   $ 317    $ 284    $ 33      12%

 

The decreaseincrease in research and development expenses is primarily related to a decreasean increase in salaries, benefits, bonuses, and share-based compensation

of $30 and an increase in costs for maintenance on our mobile applications and other development costs of $17, and a decrease in salaries, wages and benefits of $2.$3.

 

Other Income/(Expense)

 

Other income/(expense) primarily relates to the gain or loss on the disposal of property and equipment, interest expense, and net foreign exchange gains or losses,

offset by credit card cash back rewards. The following table reflects our other income/(expense) for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the

three months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022:

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us

©2023 Refi nitiv.  Al l  rights reserved. Republ ication or redistribution of Refi nitiv content, including
by fram ing or sim i lar m eans, is prohibi ted
w ithout the prior w ri tten consent of Refi nitiv.  'Refi nitiv' and the Refi nitiv logo  are
registered tradem arks of Refi nitiv and i ts affi l iated
com panies.

52/69

  

    Three Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Other expense   $ (26)   $ (17)   $ (9)     53%

    Three Months Ended September 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Other income/(expense)   $ 1,425    $ (17)   $ 1,442    8482%  

The increase in other income/(expense) is primarily related to the gain on the sale of our corporate headquarters located in Tempe, Arizona of $1,459.

 

Six Nine months ended June September 30, 2023 compared to six nine months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022

 

Service Revenue

 

Cloud telecommunications service revenue consists primarily of fees collected for cloud telecommunications services, professional services, interest from sales-type

leases, reselling broadband Internet services, managed IT service, administrative fees, and website hosting services. The following table reflects our service revenue for the

six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the six nine months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022:

 

    Six Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Service revenue   $ 14,466    $ 8,954    $ 5,512      62%

    Nine Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  

Service revenue   $ 21,983    $ 13,427    $ 8,556      64%
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The increase in service revenue is due to an increase in telecommunications services fees of $4,727, $7,195, an increase in one-time fees, commissions and other of

$646, $1,120, an increase in fees, commissions, and other, recognized over time of $67, $123, and an increase in sales-type lease interest of $72.$118. Our November 1, 2022

acquisition of Allegiant Networks, contributed $5,156$7,807 of the total increase in service revenue. A substantial portion of Cloud Telecommunications service revenue is

generated through thirty-six to sixty month service contracts.
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Product Revenue

 

Product revenue consists primarily of fees collected from the sale of desktop phone devices, third-party equipment, and device as a service. The following table reflects

our product revenue for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the six nine months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022:

 

    Six Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Product revenue   $ 2,657    $ 1,184    $ 1,473      124%

    Nine Months Ended September 30,  
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    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  

Product revenue   $ 4,323    $ 1,944    $ 2,379      122%

 

Product revenue fluctuates from one period to the next based on timing of installations. Our typical customer installation is complete within 30-60 days. However, larger

enterprise customers can take multiple months, depending on size and the number of locations. Product revenue is recognized when products have been installed and services

commence. Additionally, product revenue can fluctuate due to the allocation of discounts or sales promotions across the performance obligations. The increase in product

revenue is primarily duerelated to additional product revenue of $1,168$1,885 contributed by our November 1, 2022 acquisition of Allegiant Networks during the six nine

months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, and an increase in organic product revenue of $305.$494.

 

Backlog

 

Backlog represents the total contract value of all contracts signed, less revenue recognized from those contracts as of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022.

Backlog increased 21% 43%, or $6,300$13,051 to $35,752$43,114 as of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 as compared to $29,452$30,063 as of June 30, 2022September 30, 2022.

Below is a table which displays the Cloud Telecommunications segment revenue backlog as of January 1, 2023 and 2022, and June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022, which

we expect to recognize as revenue within the next thirty-six to sixty months (in thousands):

 

Cloud Telecommunications backlog as of January 1, 2023   $ 32,016     $ 32,016  

Cloud Telecommunications backlog as of June 30, 2023   $ 35,752  

Cloud Telecommunications backlog as of September 30, 2023   $ 43,114  

           

Cloud Telecommunications backlog as of January 1, 2022   $ 30,190     $ 30,190  

Cloud Telecommunications backlog as of June 30, 2022   $ 29,452  

Cloud Telecommunications backlog as of September 30, 2022   $ 30,063  

 

Cost of Service Revenue

 

Cost of service revenue consists primarily of fees we pay to third-party telecommunications carriers, broadband Internet providers, software providers, costs related to

installations, customer support salaries, and benefits,  bonuses, and share-based compensation. The following table reflects our cost of service revenue for the six nine months

ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the six nine months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022:

 

    Six Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Cost of service revenue   $ 6,139    $ 2,874    $ 3,265      114%

    Nine Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  

Cost of service revenue   $ 9,312    $ 4,249    $ 5,063      119%

 

The increase in cost of service revenue was primarily duerelated to additional cost of service revenue of $3,224$4,819 contributed by our November 1, 2022 acquisition

of Allegiant Networks during the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023. Additionally, we had a $77$167 increase in salaries, benefits, bonuses, and

benefitsshare-based compensation related to increases in headcount to assist with the migration of our customers to our new VIP platform and expenses for the accrual of

annual employee bonuses, and an increase in third-party telecommunications carrier costs of $112, offset by a decrease in other cost of service revenue of $36.$35.
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Cost of Product Revenue

 

Cost of product revenue consists of the costs associated with desktop phone devices and third-party equipment. The following table reflects our cost of product

revenue for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the six nine months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022:
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    Six Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Cost of product revenue   $ 1,720    $ 689    $ 1,031      150%
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    Nine Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  

Cost of product revenue   $ 2,643    $ 1,142    $ 1,501      131%
 

The increase is primarily duerelated to an increase of $180$281 from our organic product revenue growth and additional cost of product revenue of $851$1,220

contributed by our November 1, 2022 acquisition of Allegiant Networks during the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023.

 

Selling and Marketing

 

Selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of direct and channel sales representative salaries, benefits, bonuses, and benefits, share-based compensation, partner

channel commissions, amortization of costs to acquire contracts, travel expenses, lead generation services, trade shows, internal and third-party marketing costs, the

production of marketing materials, and sales support software.   The following table reflects our selling and marketing expenses for the six nine months ended June 30,

2023September 30, 2023, compared to the six nine months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022:

 

    Six Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Selling and marketing   $ 5,100    $ 3,259    $ 1,841      56%

    Nine Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  

Selling and marketing   $ 7,567    $ 4,963    $ 2,604      52%

 

The increase in selling and marketing expense is primarily duerelated to additional selling and marketing expense of $1,417$2,039 contributed by our November 1, 2022

acquisition of Allegiant Networks during the six month nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, an increase in commission expense of $318$464 directly related to

the increase in revenue, and an increase in salaries, wagesbenefits, bonuses, and benefitsshare-based compensation of $114, related to expansion of our sales team, offset by a

decrease in other selling and marketing expenses of $8.$13.

 

General and Administrative

 

General and administrative expenses consist of salaries, benefits, bonuses, and stock share-based compensation for executives, administrative personnel, legal, rent,

equipment, accounting and other professional services, investor relations, depreciation, amortization of intangibles, and other administrative corporate expenses. The following

table reflects our general and administrative expenses for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the six nine months ended June 30,

2022September 30, 2022:

 

    Six Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

General and administrative   $ 4,959    $ 4,299    $ 660      15%

    Nine Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  

General and administrative   $ 7,189    $ 6,355    $ 834      13%
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The increase in general and administrative expenses is primarily duerelated to additional general and administrative expense of $1,229$1,775 contributed by our

November 1, 2022 acquisition of Allegiant Networks during the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, offset by a decrease in administrative salaries,

wagesbenefits, bonuses, and benefitsshare-based compensation of $515$849 related to a decrease in share-based compensation and the reclassification of salary, wages, and

benefits to the Software Solutions segment, a decreaseoffset by an increase in corporate insuranceexpenses for the accrual of $7annual employee bonuses, and a decrease in

other general and administrative expenses of $47.$92.

 

Research and Development

 

Research and development expenses primarily consist of salaries, benefits, bonuses, and benefits, share-based compensation, and outsourced engineering services

related to the development of new cloud telecommunications features and products. The following table reflects our research and development expenses for the six nine

months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the six nine months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022:

  

    Six Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Research and development   $ 590    $ 614    $ (24)     -4%

    Nine Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  

Research and development   $ 907    $ 898    $ 9      1%

 

The decreaseincrease in research and development expenses is primarily related to an increase in salaries, wages, benefits, bonuses, and share-based compensation of

$49, offset by a decrease in costs for maintenance on our mobile applications and other development costs of $43, offset by an increase in salaries, wages and benefits of

$19.$40.
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Other Income/(Expense)

 

Other income/(expense) primarily relates to the gain or loss on the disposal of property and equipment, interest expense, and net foreign exchange gains or losses,

offset by credit card cash back rewards. The following table reflects our other income/(expense) for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to

the six nine months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022:

    Six Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Other expense   $ (65)   $ (35)   $ (30)     -86%

    Nine Months Ended September 30,  

   
2022

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Other income/(expense)   $ 1,360    $ (52)   $ 1,412    2715%  

 

The increase in other expenses income/(expense) is primarily duerelated to additional other expensesthe gain on the sale of $36 contributed by our November 1, 2022

acquisition corporate headquarters located in Tempe, Arizona of Allegiant Networks during the six months ended June 30, 2023.$1,459.

 

Operating Results of Software Solutions segment (in thousands):

 
Three Months Ended June 30,

 
Six Months Ended June 30,

   
Three Months Ended September

30,
 

Nine Months Ended September

30,
 

Software

Solutions
 

2023
 

2022
 

2023
 

2022
   

2023
   

2022
   

2023
   

2022
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Software

solutions revenue
 

$ 3,930
 

$ 3,598
 

$ 8,038
 

$ 6,866
   

$ 4,691
 

$ 3,875
 

$ 12,729
 

$ 10,741
 

Operating

expenses:
                                   

Cost of

software solutions

revenue

 

1,293

 

1,131

 

2,478

 

2,792

   

1,327

 

1,141

 

3,805

 

3,933

 

Selling and

marketing
 

1,109
 

1,093
 

2,322
 

2,096
   

1,035
 

1,028
 

3,357
 

3,124
 

General and

administrative
 

992
 

764
 

2,205
 

1,707
   

1,079
 

744
 

3,284
 

2,451
 

Research and

development
   

847
   

919
   

1,739
   

919
     

959
     

867
     

2,698
     

1,786
 

Total operating

expenses
   

4,241
   

3,907
   

8,744
   

7,514
     

4,400
     

3,780
     

13,144
     

11,294
 

Operating loss   (311 )   (309 )   (706 )   (648 )
Operating

income/(loss)
 

291
 

95
 

(415 )
 

(553 )
Other

income/(expense)
   

22
   

(109 )
   

77
   

(119 )
   

(52 )
   

(167 )
   

25
     

(286 )
Loss before tax

benefit
 

$ (289 )
 

$ (418 )
 

$ (629 )
 

$ (767 )
Income/(loss)

before tax

benefit/(provision)

 

$ 239
   

$ (72 )
 

$ (390 )
 

$ (839 )
 

Three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 compared to three months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022

 

Software Solutions Revenue

 

Software solutions revenue consists primarily of software license fees, subscription maintenance and support, and professional services. Software licenses are billed by

the number of concurrent sessions a partner has purchased or subscribes to. Subscription maintenance and support is ongoing and provides for software updates and

improvements, support for add-on modules, bug fixes, and other general maintenance items. Professional services and other revenues consist of professional services such as

the installation of software and integration of other modules, training, and implementation as well as custom mobile branding. The following table reflects our service revenue

for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the three months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022:

 

    Three Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Software solutions revenue   $ 3,930    $ 3,598    $ 332      9%

    Three Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  

Software solutions revenue   $ 4,691    $ 3,875    $ 816      21%
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The increase is primarily related to a $364$731 increase in recurring software license revenue and maintenance and support subscriptions revenue, and an increase in

professional services of $74, $99, offset by a decrease in perpetual software license revenue of $106.$14.

 

Backlog
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Backlog represents the total contract value of all contracts signed, less revenue recognized from those contracts as of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022.

Backlog increased 22% 52%, or $2,800$6,975 to $15,649$20,319 as of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 as compared to $12,669$13,344 as of June 30, 2022September 30, 2022.

Below is a table which displays the software solutions segment revenue backlog as of April 1, 2023July 1, 2023 and 2022, and June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022, which we

expect to recognize as revenue within the next thirty-six to sixty months (in thousands):

 

Software solutions backlog as of April 1, 2023   $ 14,185 

Software solutions backlog as of June 30, 2023   $ 15,469 

         

Software solutions backlog as of April 1, 2022   $ 13,054 

Software solutions backlog as of June 30, 2022   $ 12,669 
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Software solutions backlog as of July 1, 2023   $ 15,469 

Software solutions backlog as of September 30, 2023   $ 20,319 

         

Software solutions backlog as of July 1, 2022   $ 12,669 

Software solutions backlog as of September 30, 2022   $ 13,344 

 

Cost of Software Solutions Revenue

 

Cost of software solutions revenue consists primarily of salaries, wagesbenefits, bonuses, and benefits, share-based compensation, amortization expense related to the

technology, cost of Data Centerdata-center hosting, third-party software modules and outsourced services required to install and support software solutions. The following

table reflects our cost of service revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the three months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022:

 

    Three Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Cost of software solutions revenue   $ 1,293    $ 1,131    $ 162      14%

    Three Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  

Cost of software solutions revenue   $ 1,327    $ 1,141    $ 186      16%

 

The increase in cost of service revenue is primarily related to an increase in software costs of $81, an increase in outside consulting services of $44, $85, an increase in

software costs of $51, an increase in salaries, benefits, bonuses and share-based compensation of $43, and an increase in data-center related expenses of $38, offset by a

decrease in other cost of software solutions revenue of $1.$7.

 

Selling and Marketing

 

Selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of sales and marketing salaries, wagesbenefits, bonuses, and benefits, commissions, share-based compensation,

commissions, travel expenses, lead generation services, trade shows, third-party marketing services, the production of marketing materials, amortization expense related to

customer relationships intangible asset, and sales support software. The following table reflects our selling and marketing expenses for the three months ended June 30,

2023September 30, 2023, compared to the three months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022:

 

    Three Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Selling and marketing   $ 1,109    $ 1,093    $ 16      1%

    Three Months Ended September 30,  
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    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  

Selling and marketing   $ 1,035    $ 1,028    $ 7      1%

 

                The increase in selling and marketing expense is primarily duerelated to an increase in commission expensesalaries, benefits, bonuses, and share-based compensation

of $57 directly related to the increase in revenue, and an increase in other selling and marketing costs of $9, $40, offset by a decrease in marketing consultant costs of $50.$24

and a decrease in other selling and marketing expenses of $9.

 

General and Administrative

 

General and administrative expenses consist of salaries, wagesbenefits, bonuses and benefitsshare-based compensation for executives share-based

compensation, and, administrative personnel, amortization of intangible asset related to trademarks and trade names, legal, rent, equipment, accounting and other professional

services, and other administrative corporate expenses. The following table reflects our general and administrative expenses for the three months ended June 30,

2023September 30, 2023, compared to the three months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022:

 

    Three Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

General and administrative   $ 992    $ 764    $ 228      30%

    Three Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  

General and administrative   $ 1,079    $ 744    $ 335      45%
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                The increase in general and administrative expenses is primarily related to the reclassification of salary, wagessalaries and benefits from the Cloud Telecommunication

Services segment of $249$260 after carefully reviewing expenses that related to the Software Solutions segment offset by a decreaseand an increase of other general and

administrative costs of $21.$75.

 

Research and Development

 

Research and development expenses primarily consistsconsist of salaries, wagesbenefits, bonuses, and benefits, share-based compensation, and

outsourcingoutsourced engineering services related to the development of our software solutions. The following table reflects our research and development expenses for the

three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the three months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022:

 

    Three Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Research and development   $ 847    $ 919    $ (72)     -8%
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    Three Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  

Research and development   $ 959    $ 867    $ 92      11%
  

The decreaseincrease in research and development expenses is primarily related to an decreaseincrease in outside consulting services of $63, an increase in salaries,

wagesbenefits, bonuses, and benefitsshare-based compensation of $74, $32, offset by an increasea decrease in other research and development expenses of $2.$3.

 

Other Income/(Expense)
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Other expense primarily relates to interest expense, net foreign exchange gains or losses, and other income and expenses. The following table reflects our other

expense for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the three months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022:

 

    Three Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Other income/ (expense)   $ 22    $ (109)   $ 131      120%

    Three Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  

Other income/(expense)   $ (52)   $ (167)   $ 115      69%

 

The increase in other income/(expense) is primarily duerelated to an increase in foreign exchange gains of $111, and an increase in other income of $20.$115.

 

Six Nine months ended June September 30, 2023 compared to six nine months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022

 

Software Solutions Revenue

 

Software solutions revenue consists primarily of software license fees, subscription maintenance and support, and professional services. Software licenses are billed by

the number of concurrent sessions a partner has purchased or subscribes to. Subscription maintenance and support is ongoing and provides for software updates and

improvements, support for add-on modules, bug fixes, and other general maintenance items. Professional services and other revenues consist of professional services such as

the installation of software and integration of other modules, training, and implementation as well as custom mobile branding. The following table reflects our service revenue

for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the six nine months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022:

 

    Six Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Software solutions revenue   $ 8,038    $ 6,866    $ 1,172      17%

    Nine Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  

Software solutions revenue   $ 12,729    $ 10,741    $ 1,988      19%

 

The increase is primarily related to an increase in recurring software license revenue and maintenance and support subscriptions revenue of $825, $1,556, an increase in

perpetual software license revenue of $282, $268, and an increase in professional services of $65.$164.
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Backlog

 

Backlog represents the total contract value of all contracts signed, less revenue recognized from those contracts as of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022.

Backlog increased 22% 52%, or $2,800$6,975 to $15,649$20,319 as of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 as compared to $12,669$13,344 as of June 30, 2022September 30, 2022.

Below is a table which displays the software solutions segment revenue backlog as of January 1, 2023July 1, 2023 and 2022, and June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022, which

we expect to recognize as revenue within the next thirty-six to sixty months (in thousands):

 

Software solutions backlog as of January 1, 2023   $ 14,830     $ 14,830  

Software solutions backlog as of June 30, 2023   $ 15,649  

Software solutions backlog as of September 30, 2023   $ 20,319  
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Software solutions backlog as of January 1, 2022   $ 13,034     $ 13,034  

Software solutions backlog as of June 30, 2022   $ 12,669  

Software solutions backlog as of September 30, 2022   $ 13,344  

   

Cost of Software Solutions Revenue

 

Cost of software solutions revenue consists primarily of salaries, wagesbenefits, bonuses, and benefits, share-based compensation, amortization expense related to the

technology, cost of Data Centerdata-center hosting, third-party software modules and outsourced services required to install and support software solutions. The following

table reflects our cost of service revenue for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the six nine months ended June 30, 2022September 30,

2022:

 

    Six Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Cost of software solutions revenue   $ 2,478    $ 2,792    $ (314)     -11%
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    Nine Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  

Cost of software solutions revenue   $ 3,805    $ 3,933    $ (128)     -3%
 

The decrease in cost of service revenue is primarily related to the reclassification of $452 of research and development expenses out of cost of service revenue after

carefully reviewing operating expenses that qualify as research and development operating expenses, offset by an increase in software costs of $81$132, an increase in outside

consulting services of $85, an increase in salaries, benefits, bonuses, and share-based compensation of $43, and an increase in other cost of software solutions revenue of

$57.$64. 

 

Selling and Marketing

 

Selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of sales and marketing salaries, wagesbenefits, bonuses, and benefits, commissions, share-based compensation,

commissions, travel expenses, lead generation services, trade shows, third-party marketing services, the production of marketing materials, amortization expense related to

customer relationships intangible asset, and sales support software. The following table reflects our selling and marketing expenses for the six nine months ended June 30,

2023September 30, 2023, compared to the six nine months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022:

 

    Six Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Selling and marketing   $ 2,322    $ 2,096    $ 226      11%

    Nine Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  

Selling and marketing   $ 3,357    $ 3,124    $ 233      7%

 

The increase in selling and marketing expense is primarily duerelated to an increase in salaries, wagesbenefits, bonuses, and benefitsshare-based compensation of

$138$218 related to an increase in headcount and expenses for the accrual of annual employee bonuses, and an increase in commission expense of $104 directly related to the

increase in revenue, and an increase in share-based compensation of $40, offset by a decrease in marketing consultants costs of $50$74 and a decrease in other selling and

marketing costs of $6.$15.

 

General and Administrative

 

General and administrative expenses consist of salaries, wagesbenefits, bonuses and benefitsshare-based compensation for executives share-based

compensation, and, administrative personnel, amortization of intangible asset related to trademarks and trade names, legal, rent, equipment, accounting and other professional
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services, and other administrative corporate expenses. The following table reflects our general and administrative expenses for the six nine months ended June 30,

2023September 30, 2023, compared to the six nine months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022:

 

    Six Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

General and administrative   $ 2,205    $ 1,707    $ 498      29%

    Nine Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  

General and administrative   $ 3,284    $ 2,451    $ 833      34%

 

                The increase in general and administrative expenses is primarily related to the reclassification of salary, wagessalaries and benefits from the Cloud Telecommunication

Services segment of $552$812 after carefully reviewing expenses that related to the Software Solutions segment, an increase in share-based compensation of $64, and an

increase in other general and administrative expenses of $50, offset by a decrease in general and administrative expenses relating to the reclassification of research and

development expenses out of general and administrative expenses after carefully reviewing expenses that qualify of $93 and a decrease in other general and administrative

expenses of $25.$93.
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Research and Development

 

Research and development expenses primarily consistsconsist of salaries, wagesbenefits, bonuses, and benefits, share-based compensation, and

outsourcingoutsourced engineering services related to the development of our software solutions. The following table reflects our research and development expenses for the

six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the six nine months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022:

 

    Six Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Research and development   $ 1,739    $ 919    $ 820      89%

    Nine Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  

Research and development   $ 2,698    $ 1,786    $ 912      51%

 

The increase in research and development expenses is primarily related to the reclassification of research and development expenses out of cost of service revenue of

$452 and out of general and administrative expense of $93, after carefully reviewing expenses that qualify as research and development operating expenses, an increase in

salaries, wagesbenefits, bonuses, and benefitsshare-based compensation of $132$263 related to an increase in headcount, and salary increases,  and the 2023 annual bonus

plan accrual, an increase in share-based compensation outside consulting services of $99, $63, and an increase in other research and development expenses of $44.$41.
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Other Income/(Expense)

 

Other expenseincome/(expense) primarily relates to interest expense, net foreign exchange gains or losses, and other income and expenses. The following table reflects

our other expense for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the six nine months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022:

 

    Six Months Ended June 30,  
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2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Other income/(expense)   $ 77    $ (119)   $ 196      165%

    Nine Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  

Other income/(expense)   $ 25    $ (286)   $ 311      109%

 

The increase in other income/(expense) is primarily duerelated to an increase in foreign exchange gains of $116, $231, and an increase in other income of $80.

 

Liquidity and Capital Resources

 

Liquidity is a measure of our ability to access sufficient cash flows to meet the short-term and long-term cash requirements of our business operations. We finance our

operations primarily through services, software solutions, and product sales to our customers. As of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, we had cash and

cash equivalents of $4,200$7,737 and $5,475, respectively. Changes in cash and cash equivalents are dependent upon changes in, among other things, working capital items such

as contract liabilities, contract costs, accounts payable, accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, and various accrued expenses, as well as purchases of property and equipment,

asset acquisitions, business combinations, and changes in our capital and financial structure due to debt repayments and issuances, stock option exercises, sales of equity

investments and similar events. We believe that our operations along with existing liquidity sources will satisfy our cash requirements for at least the next 12 months.

 

On November 1, 2022, the Company acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of Allegiant Networks, a provider of telecommunications products, services,

and solutions in Kansas and Missouri. The aggregate purchase price of $9.4 million consisted of $2.0 million of cash paid at closing, 2,461,538 shares of our common stock with an

estimated fair value of $6.3 million issued at closing, and a three-year promissory note for $1.1 million.

 

Operating Activities

 

Cash provided by or used in operating activities is driven by our net loss, adjustments to reconcile to net cash provided by or used in operating activities, the timing of

customer collections, as well as the amount and timing of disbursements to our vendors, the amount of cash we invest in personnel, marketing, and infrastructure costs to

support the anticipated growth of our business. The following table reflects our net cash used in operating activities for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30,

2023, compared to the six nine months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022:

 

    Six Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Net cash used in operating activities   $ (673)   $ (2,614)   $ 1,941      74%
The net cash used for operations was primarily driven by our net loss for the six months ended June 30, 2023 of $2,127, an increase in contract costs of $600, an increase

in prepaid expenses of $582, an increase in equipment financing receivables of $528, an increase in trade receivables of $265, a decrease in accounts payable and accrued

expenses of $631, and a decrease in contract liabilities of $180, offset by non-cash expenses for depreciation and amortization of $1,808 and share-based compensation of $2,269

and a decrease in other assets of $165.

The net cash used for operations was primarily driven by our net loss for the six months ended June 30, 2022 of $2,116, an increase in accounts receivable of $1,347, an

increase in contract costs of $364, an increase in income tax receivable of $344, an increase in prepaid expenses of $320, an increase in equipment financing receivables of $228, a

decrease in contract liabilities of $657, a decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $387, offset by non-cash expenses for depreciation and amortization of $1,239

and share-based compensation of $1,911.

    Nine Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities   $ 887    $ (2,665)   $ 3,552      133%
 

 
4647
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The net cash provided by operations was primarily driven by our net loss for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 of $423, a decrease in inventories of $207, and a

decrease in other assets of $210, offset by an increase in contract costs of $994, an increase in equipment financing receivables of $770, an increase in trade receivables of $584,

an increase in prepaid expenses of $560, a decrease in contract liabilities of $409, and a decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $169, offset by non-cash expenses

for depreciation and amortization of $2,695, share-based compensation of $3,117, and a gain on disposal of property and equipment of $1,459.
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The net cash used in operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2022, was primarily driven by our net loss for the nine months period of $2,812, an increase in

accounts receivable of $1,851, an increase in prepaid expenses of $638, an increase in contract costs of $524, an increase in equipment financing receivables of $425, an increase

in income tax receivable of $375, and a decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $742, offset by non-cash expenses for depreciation and amortization and share-

based compensation of $1,862 and $2,762, respectively.

 

Investing Activities

 

Cash provided by or used in investing activities is driven by the purchase of property and equipment, business combinations, and asset acquisitions. The following table

reflects our net cash used in investing activities for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the six nine months ended June 30,

2022September 30, 2022:

 

    Six Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Net cash used in investing activities   $ (92)   $ (40)   $ (52)     -130%

    Nine Months Ended September 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities   $ 3,792    $ (192)   $ 3,984    2075%  

 

Net cash used forprovided by investing activities in for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 primarily relates to the sale of the corporate

headquarters located in Tempe, Arizona, which generated $3,792 in proceeds from the sale, offset by the purchases of property and June 30, 2022, equipment of $92. Net cash

used in investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 primarily relates to the purchase of property and equipment.

 

Financing Activities

 

                Cash provided by or used in financing activities is driven by the proceeds from the exercise of options, taxes paid on the net settlement of stock options and RSUs,

dividend payments, payment of contingent consideration, proceeds from finance leases and notes payable, repayments made on finance leases and notes payable, proceeds

and repayments on line of credit, and proceeds from the issuance of common stock in connection with an offering. The following table reflects our net cash provided by/(used

in) financing activities for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the six nine months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022:

 

    Six Months Ended June 30,  

   
2023

   
2022

   
Dollar Change

   
Percent

Change
 

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities   $ (486)   $ (20)   $ (466)     -2330%

    Nine Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     Dollar Change     Percent Change  

Net cash used in financing activities   $ (2,324)   $ (36)   $ (2,288)     -6356%

 

Net cash used for in financing activities in for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 primarily relates to the repayments made on notes payable of

$2,143, the payments of employee tax withholdings from the net settlement of stock options and RSUs of $264, repayments made on notes payable of $271, dividend payments

of $130, repayments made on a line of credit of $82, and repayments made on finance leases of $57, $76, offset by proceeds from notes payable of $278 and cash received from

the exercise of stock options of $40.$93.

 

Net cash used for in financing activities in for the six nine months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022, primarily relates to cash proceeds from the exercise of stock

options of $576, offset by the payments of employee tax withholdings fromrelated to the net settlement of stock options and RSUs of $118, repayments made on notes payable

of $37, $135, dividend payments of $223, $336, and repayments made on of notes payable and finance leases of $57, offset by cash received from the exercise of stock options of

$415.$141.

 

Contractual Obligations and Commitments
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Except as set forth in Notes 5, 12, 4, 10, and 1613 in the accompanying notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, there were no significant changes in our commitments under contractual obligations, as disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the

year ended December 31, 2022.
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Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

 

As of, June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, we are not involved in any off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of SEC Regulation S-K.

 

Related Party Transactions

 

None

 

Impact of Recent Accounting Pronouncements

 

The information set forth under Note 1 to the condensed consolidated financial statements under the caption “Recent Accounting Pronouncements” is incorporated

herein by reference.

 

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

 

Foreign Currency Risk

 

For all periods presented, our sales and operating expenses were predominately denominated in U.S. dollars. We therefore have not had material foreign currency risk

associated with sales and cost-based activities. The functional currency of our material operating entities is the U.S. dollar.
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For the periods presented, we believe the exposure to foreign currency fluctuation from operating expenses is immaterial as the related costs do not constitute a

significant portion of our total expenses. As we grow operations, our exposure to foreign currency risk may become more significant.

 

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

 

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

 

Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, after evaluating the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) or 15d-

15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) as of the end of the period covered by this Report, have concluded that, based on the

evaluation of these controls and procedures, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

 

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

 

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the three months

ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

 

Item 1. Legal Proceedings
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From time to time, we are involved in lawsuits, claims, investigations and proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of business. There are no matters pending or

threatened that we expect to have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.

 

Item 1A. Risk Factors

 

There are many risk factors that may affect our business and the results of our operations, many of which are beyond our control. Information on certain risks that we

believe are material to our business is set forth in “Part I – Item 1A. Risk Factors” of the 2022 Form 10-K.

 

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

 

None

 

Item 6. Exhibits

 

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit

No.

 

Exhibit Description

  Incorporated By Reference   Filed

Herewith    Form   Date   Number  

                     

31.1   Certification Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended               x X

31.2   Certification Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended               x X

32.1   Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350               x X

32.2   Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350               x X

101.INS   XBRL INSTANCE DOCUMENT                

101.SCH   XBRL TAXONOMY EXTENSION SCHEMA DOCUMENT                

101.CAL   XBRL TAXONOMY EXTENSION CALCULATION LINKBASE DOCUMENT                

101.DEF   XBRL TAXONOMY EXTENSION DEFINITION LINKBASE DOCUMENT                

101.LAB   XBRL TAXONOMY EXTENSION LABEL LINKBASE DOCUMENT                

101.PRE   XBRL TAXONOMY EXTENSION PRESENTATION LINKBASE DOCUMENT                

———————

* In accordance with Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, these XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language) documents are furnished and not filed or a part of a registration

statement or prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933 or Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and otherwise are not subject

to liability under these sections.
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SIGNATURES

 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto

duly authorized.

 

  Crexendo, Inc.  

       

August 10, November 9, 2023 By: /s/ Jeffrey JEFFREY G. Korn KORN  

   
Jeffrey G. Korn

Chief Executive Officer
 

 

August 10, November 9, 2023 By: /s/ Ronald Vincent  

   
Ronald Vincent

Chief Financial Officer
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EXHIBIT 31.1

Certification Pursuant to

Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Amended

 

I, Jeffrey G. Korn, certify that:

 

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Crexendo, Inc.;

   

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in

light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

   

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,

results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

   

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules

13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 

 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that

material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the

period in which this report is being prepared;

     

 

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles;

     

 
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the

disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

     

 

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the

registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal

control over financial reporting; and

     

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s

auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

     

 
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely

affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

     

 
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial

reporting.

Date: November 9, 2023 By:   /s/ JEFFREY G. KORN

   

Date: August 10, 2023 By: /s/ Jeffrey G. Korn

Jeffrey G. Korn

Chief Executive Officer
 

EXHIBIT 31.2

Certification Pursuant to

Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Amended

 

I, Ronald Vincent, certify that:

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us

©2023 Refi nitiv.  Al l  rights reserved. Republ ication or redistribution of Refi nitiv content, including
by fram ing or sim i lar m eans, is prohibi ted
w ithout the prior w ri tten consent of Refi nitiv.  'Refi nitiv' and the Refi nitiv logo  are
registered tradem arks of Refi nitiv and i ts affi l iated
com panies.

67/69

 

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Crexendo, Inc.;

   

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in

light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

   

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,

results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

   

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules

13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that

material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the

period in which this report is being prepared;

     

 

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles;

     

 
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the

disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

     

 

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the

registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal

control over financial reporting; and

     

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s

auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

     

 
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely

affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

     

 
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial

reporting.

Date: August 10, 2023November 9, 2023 By: /s/ Ronald Vincent  

Ronald Vincent

Chief Financial Officer
 

EXHIBIT 32.1

 

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

(18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350)

 

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Crexendo, Inc., a Nevada corporation (the “Company”), on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, as filed

with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), Jeffrey G. Korn, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, does hereby certify, pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. § 1350), that to his knowledge:

 

  (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

     

  (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.

Date:  November 9, 2023 By:   /s/ JEFFREY G. KORN
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Date: August 10, 2023 By: /s/ Jeffrey G. Korn

Jeffrey G. Korn

Chief Executive Officer
 

EXHIBIT 32.2

 

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

(18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350)

 

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Crexendo, Inc., a Nevada corporation (the “Company”), on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, as filed

with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), Ronald Vincent, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, does hereby certify, pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. § 1350), that to his knowledge:

 

  (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

     

  (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.

 
Date: August 10, 2023November 9, 2023 By: /s/ Ronald Vincent  

Ronald Vincent

Chief Financial Officer
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